
 

 

VICTORIA & ESQUIMALT POLICE BOARD 
Public Meeting Agenda 

Tuesday, May 21, 2019 at 5:00pm 
VicPD HQ – 1ST Floor Briefing Room 

 
 

 

Verbal ●             Attachment ●           
 

1.  ADOPTION OF AGENDA 
 
  a.   Adoption of the Public Agenda of May 21, 2019 
 
2.  ADOPTION OF THE MINUTES 

 
Pg. 1 ● a.   Adoption of the Minutes of the Public meeting of April 16, 2019    
2   
3.  DEPARTMENT REPORTS  
  
FOR INFORMATION 
 
Pg. 4 ● a. Chief Constable Monthly Activity Report 
Pg.  ● b.  Chief Constable Update 
  
4.  COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 
Pg. 6 ● a. Governance Committee Update (E. Southern) 
Pg. 7 ● b. Finance Committee Update (S. Powell) 
 ● c. BC Association of Police Boards Director’s Update (E. Southern) 
 
5.  GENERAL  
 
FOR INFORMATION 
 
Pg. 9 ● a.   Order in Council #231 re: Reappointment of Board Member Elder 
Pg. 10 ● b. 190423 Letter from Corporation of the District of Saanich re: VSAC 
Pg. 12 ● c. 2019 UVic IMPACT Report   
Pg. 56 ● d. 2015-2019 Strategic Matrix Update   
 
6 . STANDING ITEMS 
 
 ● a. 2020-2024 Strategic Plan (DC Laidman) 
 ● b.   Board Member Engagement Update 
 ● c. Board Co-Chairs Update 
Pg. 75 ● d. 2019 Board Strategic Priorities 
 



VEPB Public Meeting Minutes      2019-April-16 Page 1 of 3 
This record and the information contained herein is the property of the Victoria and Esquimalt Police Board.  It is not to be 
reproduced, copied or further disseminated without the express prior consent of the Victoria and Esquimalt Police Board. 

VICTORIA & ESQUIMALT POLICE BOARD 
Public Meeting Minutes 

Tuesday, April 16, 2019 at 4:00pm 
City Hall – Council Chambers 

PRESENT 

Mayor Desjardins, Chair (until 5:15pm) Chief Cst. Manak Insp. Parks 
Mayor Helps DC Watson S. Hurcombe
S. Powell DC Laidman M. MacIntyre
E. Southern Insp. M. Brown 
B. Smith Insp. Lindner (until 5pm) 
P. Stockton Insp. McRae 

Recording Secretary:  Collette Thomson 

1. ADOPTION OF AGENDA

a. Adoption of the Public Agenda of April 16, 2019

19-48 MOTION: To adopt the Public Agenda of the April 16, 2019 meeting as presented. 
MOVED/SECONDED/CARRIED 

2. CONSENT AGENDA

a. Adoption of the Minutes of the Public meeting of March 25, 2019

19- 49 MOTION: To approve the Consent Agenda of April 16, 2019 as presented. 
MOVED/SECONDED/CARRIED 

2 
3. GENERAL

PRESENTATION 

a. Block Watch (M. MacIntyre, K. Kelley)
Refer to the presentation provided by Mark MacIntyre, VicPD Director of Community Engagement
and Kimberly Kelley, VicPD Community Programs Coordinator.  An update was provided regarding
the 11-point renewal plan and the progress made to date.

FOR DECISION/DISCUSSION 

a. Timing of Board & Committee Meetings (E. Southern)
It was determined that the current 30 minute time allotment for the in-camera sessions is
insufficient.  Timings of the Board sessions will be adjusted as follows:

3:45pm – 5:00pm: In-Camera 
5:00pm – 6:00pm: Public 

Page 1 of 75



VEPB Public Meeting Minutes      2019-April-16 Page 2 of 3 
This record and the information contained herein is the property of the Victoria and Esquimalt Police Board.  It is not to be 
reproduced, copied or further disseminated without the express prior consent of the Victoria and Esquimalt Police Board. 

19-50 MOTION: That effective May 21, 2019, the Public session of the Victoria & Esquimalt 
Board meetings commence at 5:00pm.  MOVED/SECONDED/CARRIED 

FOR INFORMATION 

a. Result of Proposed BCAPB Resolution
Refer to the document provided – for information.  An amendment was made to the resolution put
forward at the BCAPB AGM to allow Mayors to excuse themselves as Chairs of the police boards. The
amendment passed; the resolution failed.  The resolution will be modified and submitted in 2020.

19-51 MOTION: To refer the issue of the 2020 BCAPB resolution regarding Mayors as Police 
Board Chairs to the Governance Committee for further consideration and modification. 
MOVED/SECONDED/CARRIED 

b. 190410 Letter from Victoria City Council to Minister Farnworth re: Regionalization
Refer to the letter provided – for information.

4. DEPARTMENT REPORTS

FOR INFORMATION 

a. Chief Constable Update
• Chief Manak presented at the Canadian Association of Chiefs of Police Leadership

conference re: Leadership for the Future Through Diversity
• VicPD presented the 2019 budget to the Township of Esquimalt
• Government of Canada launched an action plan on post traumatic stress injuries

o https://www.canada.ca/en/public-safety-canada/news/2019/04/government-of-
canada-launches-action-plan-on-post-traumatic-stress-injuries.html

• Operational update provided regarding high profile files and locations where there have
been significant and multiple calls for service

• In the spirit of proactive transparency, the following will be posted on the VicPD website:
o 2017 remuneration and expenses for VicPD employees over $75,0000
o 2017 remuneration for Board members

b. Chief Constable Monthly Activities Report
Refer to the document provided – for information.

c. 2019 Budget Update
Esquimalt Council approved the same budget that City Council did, but in addition they also
approved funding for special events and the ACT officers.  Both Councils must mutually agree,
therefore VicPD will not receive the funding for either of those items.  Further discussions will need
to take place regarding funding for Canada Day celebrations as VicPD will now have a shortfall of
$100,000 for policing that event.

Page 2 of 75

https://www.canada.ca/en/public-safety-canada/news/2019/04/government-of-canada-launches-action-plan-on-post-traumatic-stress-injuries.html
https://www.canada.ca/en/public-safety-canada/news/2019/04/government-of-canada-launches-action-plan-on-post-traumatic-stress-injuries.html


VEPB Public Meeting Minutes      2019-April-16 Page 3 of 3 
This record and the information contained herein is the property of the Victoria and Esquimalt Police Board.  It is not to be 
reproduced, copied or further disseminated without the express prior consent of the Victoria and Esquimalt Police Board. 

5. COMMITTEE REPORTS

FOR INFORMATION 

a. Human Resources Committee Update
Refer to the document provided – for information.

b. Governance Committee Update
Refer to the document provided – for information.

19-52 MOTION: That the Board adopts the proposed conference reporting guidelines as 
presented. MOVED/SECONDED CARRIED 

19-53 MOTION: That the Board direct to the Governance Committee to review options and 
approaches regarding media relations. MOVED/SECONDED CARRIED 

19-54 MOTION: That the Board hold a dedicated working session in relation to the Framework 
Agreement (FA); and that subsequent to it they request separate meetings with Victoria 
and Esquimalt Councils to review the FA and the concerns as addressed specifically by 
Esquimalt in their letter of March 26, 2019. MOVED/SECONDED CARRIED 

6. STANDING ITEMS

a. BC Association of Police Boards Director Update
• The BCAPB will be meeting with Minister Farnworth at the end of May to provide an update

on topical issues
• Nominations have gone out for the vacant positions of Secretary and Treasurer
• Feedback will be provided to the BCAPB regarding the timing of the annual AGM

b. Co-Chairs Update
• April 11: Mayor Desjardins attended the VicPD Volunteer & Reserves Service Awards

ceremony

c. Board Member Engagement Update
No update.

d. 2019 Board Strategic Priorities
Refer to the document provided – for information.

Meeting adjourned at 4:56pm. 

________________________________ 
Mayor Barbara Desjardins 
Lead Co-Chair 

________________________________ 
Date 

________________________________ 
Collette Thomson 
Recording Secretary 

________________________________ 
Date 

Page 3 of 75



VICTORIA & ESQUIMALT POLICE BOARD REPORT 
Public 

DATE May 21, 2019 

ACTION For information 

SUBJECT Chief Constable Monthly Activities Report 

RECOMMENDED BY Chief Constable Del Manak 

APPROVED BY Chief Constable Del Manak 

Community Events and Presentations 

April 17 Served Easter lunch at Our Place 

April 17 Attended the grand opening of the PricewaterhouseCoopers Experience Centre 

April 17 Presented to the Board of Our Place 

April 21 Attended the Lions Easter Egg Extravaganza event in Esquimalt 

April 23 Attended George Jay Elementary School and read to class for Literacy Week 

April 24 Provided opening remarks at the Intercultural Association forum on Racism, Hate & Islamophobia 

April 24 Provided remarks at for the provincial announcement re: report on decriminalization of drugs 

April 24 Attended the VicPD 2020-2024 Strategic Plan community engagement session in Esquimalt 

April 25 Attended the Student Career Fair in Esquimalt 

April 25 Visited the Jamatkhana in Esquimalt 

April 28 Participated in the Vaisakhi Parade  

April 30 Attended the VicPD 2020-2024Strategic Plan community engagement session in Victoria 

May 1 Provided remarks at the Youth for Change & Inclusion camp 

May 7 Attended the Chamber of Commerce AGM and Mayoral Address luncheon 

May 8 Provided opening remarks at the United Way Overdose Prevention Expo 

May 8 Participated in the McHappy Day event in Esquimalt 

May 9 Attended the VicPD 2020-2024 Strategic Plan engagement session with City Council 

May 9 Facilitated the VicPD 2020-2024 Strategic Plan community engagement session with Our Place 

May 9 Attended the Crime Stoppers Appreciation Reception 

May 10 Provided opening remarks for the Tour de Rock jersey presentation 

May 11 Attended the Buccaneer Days Parade in Esquimalt 

May 11 Attended the Quadra Village Day event 

May 11 Attended the VicPD Reserve Constable Graduation 

Page 4 of 75



Chief Constable Update 
2018-December-18 

Page 2 of 2 

May 16 Presented to Law 12 class at Claremont Secondary school 

May 19 Participated in the Sail Past salute in the Inner Harbour 

May 20 Participated in the Victoria Day Parade 

Upcoming Events 
Board members welcome to attend 

Date Time Event Location 
June 1 10:15am Special Olympics BC Law Enforcement Torch Run Windsor Park 
June 1 11:00am Esquimalt Neighbourhood Party Esquimalt Rec Centre 
June 10 5:45pm 2020-2024 VicPD Strategic Plan Consultation 

Session with Esquimalt Council 
Esquimalt Council Chambers 

June 10 7:00pm Presentation of VicPD 2019 Q1 Report - Esquimalt Esquimalt Council Chambers 
June 13 9:00am Presentation of VicPD 2019 Q1 Report - Victoria City Hall Council Chambers 
June 16 All day YYJ Car Free Day Douglas Street 
June 21-23 12:00pm Indigenous Cultural Festival RBC Museum 
July 1 All day Canada Day Inner Harbour 
Aug  24 TBA Opening of Sarah Beckett Memorial Playground Westhills Stadium 
Sept 29 1:00pm BC Law Enforcement Memorial Ceremony BC Legislature 

Page 5 of 75



VICTORIA & ESQUIMALT POLICE BOARD 
Committee Report to Board 

Public 

Committee: Governance 
Meeting Date: May 7, 2019 

ITEMS DISCUSSED 

1. Coroner’s Inquest Recommendations
2. Planning re: Framework Agreement Discussion
3. Update re: 2020 CAPG & CACP Conferences

RECOMMENDATIONS TO BOARD 

1. Media Strategy & Spokesperson

MOTION: That the Board adopt the practice of appointing the Co-chairs as the media
spokesperson for the Board; and that the Committee Chairs only be appointed as the
spokesperson of their respective committees in the event the Co-Chairs are unable to
comment.

FUTURE ITEMS 

1. Remuneration & Expense Guidelines

Page 6 of 75



VICTORIA & ESQUIMALT POLICE BOARD 
Committee Report to Board 

Public 

Committee: Finance 
Meeting Date: May 7, 2019 

RECOMMENDATIONS TO BOARD 

1. Approval: Tuition Reimbursement Request for Chief Manak
Refer to the following page.

MOTION: That the Board approve Chief Cst. Manak’s request for reimbursement for his SFU
tuition in the full amount of $6,460.61

FUTURE ITEMS 

To be determined. 

Page 7 of 75



Page 8 of 75



PROVINCE OF BRITISH COLUMBIA 

ORDER OF THE LIEUTENANT GOVERNOR IN COUNCIL 

Order in Council No. , Approved and Ordered 

Lieutenant Governor 

Executive Council Chambers, Victoria 

Minister of Public Safety and Solicitor General Presiding Member of the Executive Council 

(This part is for administrative purposes only and is not part of the Order.) 

Authority under which Order is made: 

Act and section: Police Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, c. 367, ss. 23 and 24 

Other: OIC 314/2018 

O10325333 

page 1 of 1 

On the recommendation of the undersigned, the Lieutenant Governor, by and with the advice and consent of the 
Executive Council, orders that, effective June 30, 2019, Keven Murray Elder is reappointed as a member of the Victoria 
and Esquimalt Police Board for a term ending June 30, 2021. 

231 May 13, 2019

Page 9 of 75



Page 10 of 75



Page 11 of 75



Integrating Municipal Police Officers onto Assertive 
Community Treatment teams (IMPACT): 

Social Service, Criminal Justice, and Emergency 
Health Care Perspectives

May 6, 2019 

Catherine Costigan, Ph.D. & Erica Woodin, Ph.D. 

Department of Psychology 

University of Victoria 

Page 12 of 75



  
 

Page 2 
 

About the Authors 

Catherine Costigan, Ph.D., R.Psych and Erica Woodin, Ph.D., R.Psych are faculty members in the 
Department of Psychology at the University of Victoria. Both authors have extensive experience 
conducting research in the area of health and well-being. In addition, both authors hold doctorates 
in clinical psychology and are Registered Psychologists. The authors are unaffiliated with either 
Island Health or the Victoria Police Department. 

Dr. Costigan can be reached at costigan@uvic.ca or 250-721-7529. 

Dr. Woodin can be reached at ewoodin@uvic.ca or 250-721-8590. 

This report was prepared for 
 
Inspector Michael Brown 
Community Services Division 
Victoria Police Department  
 
John Braun, Manager 
Community Specialized Outpatient Services (SI)  
Island Health 

We acknowledge with respect the Lekwungen-speaking peoples on whose traditional 
territory the University of Victoria stands and the Songhees, Esquimalt and WSÁNEĆ 
peoples whose historical relationships with the land continue to this day. 

We are grateful to all of the participants in this research who generously shared their time and 
trusted us with their experiences. We gratefully acknowledge the contributions of our Advisory 
Board members, some of whom were Hilary Marks, Terry Edison-Brown (Anawim House), Kevin 
O’Brien (Cool Aid Society), and Roberta Bell (Victoria Native Friendship Centre). A special 
thanks for Anawim House for providing us the perfect space for our Advisory Board meetings.  

 

We would also like to thank Kari Duerksen, MSc, Ruth Ferguson, B.A., Drexler Ortiz, B.A., Cindy 
Quan, MSc, and Pauline Song, MSc for their research assistance. This research was funded by a 
provincial BC Crime Prevention and Crime Reduction grant.  

 

Page 13 of 75

mailto:costigan@uvic.ca
mailto:ewoodin@uvic.ca


  
 

Page 3 
 

Table of Contents 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ............................................................................................................ 5 
CONTEXT ...................................................................................................................................... 8 
WHAT DID WE DO? ................................................................................................................... 10 

Participant Recruitment ............................................................................................................. 10 

Data Collection .......................................................................................................................... 12 

WHAT DID WE LEARN? ........................................................................................................... 14 
Benefits...................................................................................................................................... 14 

Stable Relationships .............................................................................................................. 15 

Improving Safety ................................................................................................................... 17 

Embeddedness ....................................................................................................................... 18 

Preventing Harm .................................................................................................................... 19 

Authority ................................................................................................................................ 21 

Reduce System Burden .......................................................................................................... 22 

Drawbacks ................................................................................................................................. 23 

Stigma .................................................................................................................................... 25 

Risk of Consequences ............................................................................................................ 25 

Inflammatory Effect on Behaviour ........................................................................................ 26 

Re-trigger Trauma ................................................................................................................. 27 

Not Available Enough ........................................................................................................... 27 

Subgroups who Benefit the Most and Least from ACT Officer Involvement .......................... 28 

Most Benefitted ..................................................................................................................... 28 

Least Benefitted ..................................................................................................................... 29 

FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS ....................................................................................... 31 
1. Does police involvement on an ACT team “criminalize” mental health? ......................... 31 

2. Could anyone else fulfill the role of the ACT Officer? ..................................................... 32 

3. What would the impact be if the current ACT Officers were cut or eliminated? .............. 34 

4. Do these findings apply to all aspects of police involvement with mental health? ........... 35 

LIMITATIONS ............................................................................................................................. 37 
NEXT STEPS ............................................................................................................................... 38 
CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS ....................................................................... 39 

Page 14 of 75



  
 

Page 4 
 

1 Individualized Care Plans on ACT teams .......................................................................... 40 

2 Recognize Different Models of Police Involvement for Different Needs ......................... 40 

3 Enhance the Capacity of the Police to Respond to Mental Illness .................................... 41 

4 Build Bridges across the Systems that Interact with the ACT Teams ............................... 42 

5 Advocate for Systems Change ........................................................................................... 44 

 

  

Page 15 of 75



Page 5 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Assertive Community Treatment (ACT) program is designed for individuals with serious 
mental health problems who need support to live in the community. ACT teams consist of a range 
of health professionals who make substantial effort to connect with these vulnerable individuals, 
including extensive outreach and home visitations. The ACT model has been found to decrease 
hospitalizations and increase quality of life for people with serious mental illnesses.  

Since its inception in Victoria, between one and three police officers have been integrated with the 
ACT program. For the past two years, we have been conducting a research study of this integration. 
Our work is independent of both Island Health and the Victoria Police Department (VicPD). We 
have interviewed people with lived experience on ACT teams – the individuals with severe mental 
illness who receive services from the ACT program. We have also interviewed ACT staff from 
many disciplines (e.g., nurses, psychiatrists, addictions, support workers, social work). Most 
recently, we interviewed members of the Victoria social service, psychiatric emergency, and 
criminal justice communities individually. We also met four times with an Advisory Board which 
included individuals with lived experience, family members of individuals with lived experience, 
and social service providers. These interviews and Advisory Board meetings revealed overall 
support for police integration onto ACT teams. Concerns were raised about police involvement on 
ACT teams, particularly for individuals who have had traumatic experiences with police in the 
past. However, the balance of evidence indicated that police involvement on ACT teams supported 
better outcomes for individuals receiving ACT services than would have been achieved without 
officers.  

ACT Officers are integral to supporting individuals to maintain stability and in providing 
assistance when individuals require a higher level of care, such as when hospitalization is required 
during active psychosis. Similar to our findings in our first report, we repeatedly heard that the 
long-term relationship formed between individuals on ACT teams and the ACT Officers is the 
cornerstone of perceived benefits.  Our current work has highlighted the flexibility of the 
involvement of ACT Officers on ACT teams. The ACT Officers operate in both crisis-oriented 
and preventative ways, and both contexts provide unique benefits.  

• Crisis. With respect to crisis response, ACT officers are on-call to assist other ACT team staff
when an individual receiving services from the ACT program is becoming erratic or is in need
of immediate assistance. The ACT Officers’ de-escalation skills, combined with a pre-existing
relationship with recipients of ACT services, result in better outcomes in crises. We learned
that others, such as individuals who work in supported housing, sometimes call upon the ACT
Officers in the community to assist with de-escalating situations that involve a person with an
ACT team. Occasionally, the ACT Officers are even brought in when the individual in distress
is not part of the ACT program. This attests to the skill and high regard that many in the
community hold of ACT Officers.

Page 16 of 75



Page 6 

• Prevention/Ongoing engagement. In addition to crisis responses, we heard countless examples
of ACT Officers using the strength of their relationship with recipients of ACT services,
combined with the authority of their role, to help before problems escalate into a crisis. For
example, ACT Officers provide support to individuals on ACT teams who are at risk of losing
housing or other social supports due to erratic or illegal behaviour. Instead of criminalizing
behaviour caused by deteriorating mental health, we heard examples of officers working
proactively with the ACT team to determine additional resources or interventions that might
stabilize individuals in the community. This prevention-oriented approach has been
demonstrated to significantly reduce police calls, arrests, and hospitalization, thus providing
considerable cost savings to the community as well as a better quality of life to the individuals
who are receiving services from ACT teams. Ongoing relationships with ACT Officers also
make it much more likely that individuals will reach out to police if they are victimized.

The majority of perceived drawbacks of police officer integration on ACT teams stemmed from a 
lack of trust that some marginalized or vulnerable community members experience with the police. 
In situations where an individual or close friend or family member has had traumatic experiences 
with police officers in the past, the presence of an ACT Officer has the potential to re-trigger 
feelings of trauma or promote agitated behaviour. A general mistrust for the police in a particular 
community can also lead to the experience of stigma if one is observed interacting with an officer, 
including an ACT Officer. In some instances, at least at first, this can make it more difficult to 
establish an open and honest relationship with the multidisciplinary members of the ACT team if 
an officer is present.  

Some are concerned that including police officers in mental health care treats individuals who have 
mental health challenges as criminals and increases the likelihood of legal consequences for 
behaviour related to mental illness. Our analyses, however, suggest that the opposite is true. 
Interviewees felt that the specific officers who are involved with the ACT program have a good 
understanding of mental illness and see behaviour through a mental health lens rather than a 
criminal lens (e.g., they ask why a behaviour is occurring before responding). This understanding 
of mental health helps to divert individuals from the criminal justice system and maintain them 
more appropriately within the health system instead. Furthermore, participants had difficulty 
identifying anyone else who could fulfill the functions of the ACT Officers. The ACT Officers 
provide a unique combination of a long-term stable relationship coupled with the authority that 
comes with being a police officer. Together, these qualities enable the ACT Officers to engage in 
a variety of activities that enhance wellbeing for individuals receiving services from ACT teams. 

Our findings underscore the importance of individualizing treatment plans based on the unique 
needs and strengths of each person who is receiving ACT services. The decisions made within 
ACT teams about when and how ACT Officers are involved in care is different for each person 
receiving services on an ACT team. We heard several examples of how ACT teams take particular 

Page 17 of 75



  
 

Page 7 
 

care if there is a history of police mistrust, and our results reinforce the importance of continuing 
to do so.   

Other models exist for involving (or not involving) police officers in mental health care, and these 
models should be considered alongside the current ACT model in Victoria. The best response to a 
mental health concern depends on the situation; the ACT model with police integration can co-
exist with other models for addressing mental health concerns.  

More broadly, we found that there is substantial room for improvement in relationships across 
different service sectors in the community, particularly with respect to how police are viewed. In 
some instances, it appears that different groups are working at cross-purposes to either increase or 
decrease police involvement and the vulnerable individuals receiving services from ACT teams 
risk being caught in the middle. A standing committee to address mental health care needs in the 
community that includes representatives from all sectors would be a first step to addressing some 
of the systemic factors that interfere with vulnerable individuals receiving the best care possible.  

Finally, the ACT program exists in a context of considerable gaps in services for mental health 
and substance use as well as weak safety nets for people experiencing poverty and/or 
homelessness. One point of agreement across all perspectives was an overriding concern about the 
harm created by a lack of affordable housing and inadequate mental health treatment options. 
Ideally, everyone concerned with helping the vulnerable individuals in our community could join 
forces to advocate for broader changes at provincial and federal levels.  

 

 

  

 

  

Page 18 of 75



Page 8 

CONTEXT 

Individuals are eligible for the Assertive Community Treatment (ACT) program if they are 
experiencing a serious and ongoing mental disorder, such as schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, or 
severe depression. Most Canadians with serious mental disorders lived in asylums until the 1950s, 
when the poor quality of institutional care, combined with the development of antipsychotic 
medication, led to a process of deinstitutionalization in which people with serious mental illnesses 
were encouraged to live independently.  

Now, most Canadians with serious mental disorders live in their communities. These disorders, 
however, can make it hard at times to think clearly and to make healthy decisions. It can be a 
challenge to keep a job, take care of a home, or even to eat and take medications regularly. 
Individuals with severe mental illness are also vulnerable to being the victim of physical violence, 
sexual assault, and property crimes. After deinstitutionalization, many individuals with serious 
mental disorders experienced a revolving door of hospitalizations, arrests, victimization, and 
homelessness because their symptoms made it hard to function independently in society.   

The ACT model was developed in the 1970s to help people with mental disorders live in the 
community. The ACT team is typically composed of a combination of psychiatrists, nurses, social 
workers, community outreach workers, and peer support workers. The goal is to create tailored 
treatment plans for each individual to help them live independently and safely and to reduce 
hospitalization and homelessness. ACT team members deliver outreach services to support 
successful community living. The ACT model is generally considered to be far less expensive, as 
well as less intrusive and traumatizing, than psychiatric hospitalization.   

A common experience for people with serious mental disorders is alcohol and drug addiction, 
which can make it even more difficult to live independently and free of involvement of hospitals 
and the police. Substance use can make psychotic and mood symptoms even worse, leading to 
poor self-care and risky behaviour. Addiction can also lead to property or even violent crime to 
get enough money to support ongoing use. Some substances, such as alcohol and crystal 
methamphetamine, can cause violent outbursts in otherwise non-violent individuals. Traditional 
ACT teams work with individuals with addiction; however, unsafe living conditions or violent 
outbursts can make it difficult for ACT team members to reach some of the most vulnerable 
individuals in the community. As a result, many individuals with addiction, who would otherwise 
be eligible to receive ACT services, instead fall through the cracks of revolving-door admissions 
to hospital or jail.   

Individuals with serious mental disorders living in community tend to come into contact with 
police officers for a number of reasons. They may seek police assistance if they are the victim of 
crime. If individuals become a risk to themselves or others, police are the only professionals with 
authorization to initiate psychiatric hospitalization. Disruptive public behaviour may lead to police 

Page 19 of 75



Page 9 

involvement. If addiction leads to property or violent crime, individuals with serious mental 
disorders can be arrested and incarcerated. Such experiences can be traumatic for individuals with 
serious mental disorders, many of whom have already experienced trauma in their lives, and could 
lead to further decline in their mental health. 

The Victoria ACT program currently integrates three police officers onto the ACT teams so they 
can reach and work with individuals with serious mental disorders. The ACT Officers are available 
to everyone on the ACT teams, but they are mostly involved in caring for a small number of 
individuals who have a history of violent and/or criminal behaviour as well as mental illness. The 
ACT Officers are specifically recruited for their knowledge and experience in working with 
individuals with serious mental disorders, as well as for their de-escalation skills. ACT Officers 
are long-term, integrated members of the ACT teams and are called upon in situations in which 
there is a risk of criminal behaviour, violence, or victimization.  

The purpose of the current study is to understand the benefits and drawbacks of police integration 
on ACT teams in Victoria, BC, from the perspective of individuals who are outside of the program, 
but who have first-hand contact with the ACT program. From this study, we are able to comment 
on the ability of the three officers on the ACT teams to support people with serious mental health 
concerns. Recommendations on police involvement in mental health care beyond the ACT model, 
as well as the topic of policing and homelessness in general, though important, are beyond the 
scope of this project.  

Page 20 of 75



  
 

Page 10 
 

WHAT DID WE DO? 

Island Health and the Victoria Police Department first approached us in the spring of 2017 to 
conduct research on the impact of police officers on Assertive Community Treatment (ACT) 
teams. We agreed to do so on the condition that we would have full independence in reporting our 
findings. Because little research has explored the question of how police involvement affects ACT 
teams, we decided that the initial focus should be on understanding the experiences of those people 
who are directly involved: a) the individuals who have lived experience of receiving services from 
ACT teams, and b) ACT staff from multiple disciplinary backgrounds (such as nursing, addictions, 
and peer support). In Spring 2018 we released a report detailing our findings from these groups 
(https://onlineacademiccommunity.uvic.ca/actpolice/).  

To further expand on our findings, we designed a follow-up study to provide us with more 
opportunities to hear from a broad range of voices. As with our first report, Island Health and the 
Victoria Police Department did not provide any financial resources or have any editorial control 
over what we present in this report. The work reported here was funded by a BC Crime Reduction 
and Crime Prevention grant. We also maintained the same anti-oppressive and trauma-informed 
approach that we adopted in the first phase of this research. We acted with an awareness of the 
power dynamics between us and our participants and made conscious efforts to disrupt this 
imbalance by recognizing the expertise of the interviewees. We made every attempt to provide a 
safe space for individuals to express their true opinions about ACT Officers without fear of 
judgment. For example, we presented clear information in the form of written and verbal informed 
consent. This consent information included an explanation that the interviews were confidential. 
We also emphasized the fact that we were not employed by Island Health or the Victoria Police 
Department. We approached each interview with curiosity and with the assumption that the 
interviewee was the most knowledgeable person in the interview. Thus, our questions were open-
ended in order to provide space for individuals to share their unique perspectives. We also engaged 
in critical self-reflection throughout the research process, holding weekly research team meetings 
to ensure we were maintaining these principles. 

Participant Recruitment 

We widened our lens to interview several groups who were not formally part of the ACT program 
but who had experience with officers on the ACT teams. We began by interviewing four 
individuals who receive services from the STEP program. The STEP program is a transitional 
program for individuals who were previously part of the ACT program but who are able to live 
successfully in the community with less intensive services. None of these individuals had direct 
experience with ACT officers and therefore were not able to comment directly on the use of ACT 
officers.  

Page 21 of 75

https://onlineacademiccommunity.uvic.ca/actpolice/


  
 

Page 11 
 

We next expanded our interviews to individuals in the community who are employed in a context 
that includes ongoing interactions with recipients of ACT services. These participants came from 
four sectors: 

• Social services (6 staff from supported housing or other downtown service 
providers) 

• Criminal Justice (4 staff in different roles at the Victoria Integrated Courts)  
• Emergency Health Care (3 staff from Royal Jubilee Hospital Psychiatric 

Emergency Services) 
• Advisory Board Members (9 members including a diverse collection of individuals 

with lived experience, family members of recipients of ACT program services, and 
social service providers) 

Our sample size is consistent with recommendations for qualitative research. There was a strong 
consistency of themes (related to both benefits and drawbacks) across the interviews and Advisory 
Board focus groups. In fact, the themes we heard this time were quite consistent with the themes 
we heard during the interviews we conducted for our first report. This suggests that we had 
achieved a sufficient sample size.   

 

Indivdiuals 
receiving 

ACT services 
(2017)

ACT staff 
(2017)

Emergency 
Heath Care 

(2019)

Advisory 
Board 

(2018 -19)

Social 
Services
(2018)

Criminal 
Justice
(2018)

Page 22 of 75



Page 12 

Data Collection 

We completed a one-on-one interview with each of the participants from Social Services, Criminal 
Justice, and Emergency Health Care, and held four focus groups with the Advisory Committee. 
The research team consisted of Drs. Costigan and Woodin, as well as three graduate students from 
the University of Victoria. The Research Ethics Boards of Island Health and the University of 
Victoria approved our research design.  

Individual interviews. We recruited participants by sending out email announcements inviting 
various people in the community who had experience with the ACT program to participate in a 
confidential interview at a location that would be convenient to them. Invitations were typically 
sent from leads of organizations, so that potential participants knew the project had the 
organization’s endorsement. In some instances, we also emailed people directly, so that people 
had multiple opportunities to hear about the research and participate. Interested participants 
contacted the research team directly, so that those same organizational leads would not know who 
actually participated. A graduate student conducted all interviews one-on-one in a confidential 
location of the interviewee’s choosing. No incentives were offered for participating.       

Prior to starting each interview, participants reviewed an informed consent form that explained 
their rights as research participants. We also verbally covered the key aspects of consent to ensure 
understanding, such as emphasizing the voluntary nature of participation and their right to skip a 
question or stop at any time without explanation. To encourage honest responding, we also 
discussed the ways in which we would protect their confidentiality and emphasized our 
independent role – we are not employees of Island Health or the Victoria Police Department, we 
would not share individual responses with anyone, and employers would not know who 
participated.  

After this informed consent process, with the participant’s permission, we turned on the digital 
recorder and began the interview. The questions were semi-structured and open-ended. For 
example, participants were asked, “From your perspective, what are some of the key benefits and 
drawbacks of having a police officer integrated with the ACT team?” and “Does police 
involvement on the ACT team affect the services that you are able to provide to your clients?” 
Interviews with participants generally lasted from 30 – 60 minutes.  

The digital recordings were later transcribed, and these transcripts were analysed to capture the 
primary themes. Because interviews with individuals in the STEP program did not provide us with 
directly relevant information, we limited our data analysis to interviews with the social service, 
criminal justice, health care, and Advisory Board groups. All interviews were analyzed together 
and are presented together in this report. We have included quotes, but have not attempted to 
attribute them to specific individuals or even sometime roles, in the interest of maintaining 
confidentiality of participants. Throughout the report, to contrast with “ACT Officers” we refer to 

Page 23 of 75



Page 13 

other officers from the Victoria Police Department (or in some cases other unknown police 
departments) as “uniformed officers.”  

Advisory Board meetings. In addition to individual interviews, we held four Advisory Board 
meetings, with the generous donation of space by Anawim House. These meeting were an 
opportunity to hear from a broad cross-section of individuals about their experiences and 
impressions of police officer involvement on ACT teams. The Advisory Board included 
individuals who were currently receiving services from an ACT team, individuals who had 
previously received services from an ACT team, family members, and social service provides from 
a broad cross section of agencies in Victoria. Advisory Board meetings lasted approximately two 
hours each. We benefited greatly from the expertise of the Advisory Board. Each meeting included 
a free exchange of ideas and opinions related to the ACT program and police officer integration 
on ACT. Care was taken at each meeting to set a safe environment for sharing, emphasizing the 
confidentiality and the validity of everyone’s opinions and contributions. Graduate student 
assistants took detailed notes of each meeting and the results that we present in this report reflect 
what we learned from the Advisory Board as well as the individual interviews. At a final meeting, 
the Advisory Board provided feedback on the interpretations and conclusions that we present in 
this report. 

Page 24 of 75



Page 14 

WHAT DID WE LEARN? 

The majority of respondents had direct experience with the ACT Officers. One social service 
provider did not directly observe interactions between ACT Officers and service recipients of 
ACT, and instead based their responses on the reports of individuals they interacted with who were 
serviced by ACT teams.  

Most striking was the similarity between our current findings and the results we presented in our 
first report based on interviews with ACT team members and those who received services from 
the ACT program. 

Benefits 

All participants who had direct experience with ACT Officers described benefits of officer 
integration onto ACT Teams. Interviewees differed with respect to which type of benefit they were 
most likely to highlight, with interviewees from the social service and health sectors being more 
likely to mention the benefits of harm prevention and interviewees from the criminal justice system 
more likely to identify the authority of ACT Officers as a benefit. In general, interviewees 
described the ACT Officers in terms such as “professional,” “committed,” and “fantastic,” and 
described their experiences with ACT officers in terms such as “definitely positive,” “good,” 
“working just fine,” and “definitely a benefit.” 

BENEFITS

Stable 
Relationships

Authority

Increased 
Safety

Embeddedness

Reduce 
System 
Burden

Harm 
Prevention

Page 25 of 75



  
 

Page 15 
 

Stable Relationships 
 
Consistent with our previous report, the ongoing, supportive relationships that ACT Officers form 
with individuals on the ACT teams were seen by participants as an essential part of successful 
police integration. Participants commented that the officers are empathic and understanding, form 
strong rapport with clients, and are good at compassionate limit-setting.  

 

 

 

 

An important piece of the relationship building is the 
ongoing nature of the relationship. The stability of the 
ACT Officers was consistently seen as a strength 
among the people we interviewed in terms of building 
long-term, trusting, supportive relationships. In fact, 
some interviewees noted that there was far more 
turnover among the Island Health ACT team staff than 
among the ACT Officers.  

Several participants noted the contrast between ACT 
Officers’ ongoing relationships with recipients of ACT 
services compared to interacting with unknown 
uniformed officers. This ongoing relationship can help 
prevent escalation from occurring because the ACT 
Officers have a great deal of rapport with individuals 
and can also tailor their de-escalation approach to suit 
the individual needs of each person.  

Participants noted that relationship-building was 
important for setting a foundation for effective crisis 
response. Because the ACT Officers and the recipients 
of ACT services have an ongoing relationship, in a crisis, the ACT Officer is able to act on their 
knowledge of the person in crisis as an individual, rather than make assumptions about the person 
based on appearance or stereotypes.   

 
 

“If we just have patrol officers, and it’s 
nothing against patrol officers, they go 

call to call to call, but they don’t have the 
knowledge and the background, they 
don’t have the information on what 

supports are out there, and they don’t 
know the clients.” 

“The fact that they’re a constant in the 
clients’ life is helpful too, because they’ll 
see them every week or every couple of 

weeks. They’re always with the other ACT 
team members that they trust, so that 

builds that rapport.” 

“I know they’re not social workers, but I also know being a principle and 
always working with people in need, that the more work up front you can do 

and build a relationship, the better you are off in times of crisis.” 

Page 26 of 75



  
 

Page 16 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Several participants noted that a stable relationship was important for compassionate limit-setting. 
ACT Officers communicate the importance of not crossing certain lines into unacceptable 
behaviour, but also have the flexibility to overlook lower level criminal offenses if it would be 
clearly harmful to the individual’s wellbeing to arrest or incarcerate them.  

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
Other participants noted that stable relationships with ACT Officers reduced the risk of traumatic 
interactions. Further, individuals with previous police-related trauma may come to view officers 
in a more positive light. Participants also noted that officers were only involved when needed and 
wanted, so if police involvement was expected to make a situation worse, they would defer to other 
professionals unless staff safety could not be guaranteed.  
 

“The way they are dealing with the people, there is dignity and 
respect. On average, I don’t see strong arming…. We need to let 

people know what is really happening. Let people know this is what 
they are doing and the training they have.” – Social Service Provider 

“There’s rules, there’s guidelines, there’s things in place, but [the ACT 
Officers] are also smart enough to know that... things can be bent or 
changed. They’re pretty good at making sure that people know that 
there’s a line and that the line shouldn’t be crossed. They can work 

within that with the clients themselves to kind of keep the behaviour 
where it needs to be.” 

“When the ACT team has officers associated with it that are pretty 
adept at functioning from that standpoint, and they stick around, and 
they get known, that seems to be the one way that that trust and that 

kind of trauma can get flipped around a little bit.” 

Page 27 of 75



  
 

Page 17 
 

Improving Safety 

Another theme that emerged again this 
year was that the integration of ACT 
Officers improved safety for a number 
of groups, including staff and recipients 
of services, as well as the larger Victoria 
community.  
 
Many interviewees described safety for ACT team staff as important because individuals receiving 
services on ACT teams sometimes have a history of violence. A key aspect of safety for ACT staff 
is the ability to travel safely to deliver treatment, either to individuals who might be violent or to 
housing locations that are considered too dangerous for ACT staff to visit without police escort.  

ACT Officers were also described as 
providing additional support to increase 
safety for individuals receiving ACT 
services. Individuals receiving ACT 
services are at risk of being the victims 
of crimes, particularly when they are 
experiencing symptoms of psychosis. 
Interviewees noted that individuals with 
ACT teams are far more likely to raise 
issues of victimization to ACT Officers than they are to uniformed officers and that ACT Officers 
can increase monitoring or connect them with additional resources if they are in fear. 

“I think the safety aspect of it from my perspective 
for both the individual being served and the worker 

is paramount.”   - Emergency Health Care 

“Having an officer present when you’re moving into a space or a situation, especially 
working with folks in their home, having the opportunity to have an officer present for 
when we don’t know what we’re walking into and … maybe there are things where we 
don’t have the skills or the capacity to manage what we’re going to find, is great. Or 

even when we just need support to do so.” – Social Service Provider 

“That one client that was assaulted, he’s specifically very 
vulnerable, and so you know, the ACT team’s aware of 

that. So the cases where he is taken advantage of, I think 
it is actually helpful that they’re watching more for that 

maybe. So, it is a benefit.” – Social Service Provider 

Page 28 of 75



  
 

Page 18 
 

ACT Officers’ presence can also increase 
safety during hospitalizations. Having a 
known ACT Officer escort someone to the 
hospital and sit with them until they are 
admitted means that the person will not have to 
interact with an unknown officer or hospital 
security guard during a time in which the 
individual may be particularly vulnerable to 
traumatic or escalating encounters with 
treatment professionals due to their psychiatric state.  

A new aspect of the safety theme that emerged this year was improved safety to society. Several 
interviewees mentioned that providing police-integrated ACT treatment to individuals with a 
history of violence or criminal behaviour was more effective at keeping communities safe in the 
long term than ignoring the individuals or repeatedly incarcerating them. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Embeddedness  

Our past report highlighted that ACT Officers are viewed as integral, trusted members of the ACT 
team whose involvement results in better services. In the current research, this theme extended to 
include ACT Officers’ connections with other agencies. ACT Officers were identified as being a 
useful bridge of communication between Island Health and other agencies.   

“I’ve had a lot of really good experiences with police in general here and the way 
that they’ve sort of helped us. They’ve just been very open in the building and that’s 
been a big part of the ACT team, with the policing as well.” – Social Service Provider 

“They have rapport with the patients and it’s 
led to less violent episodes and our security 

doesn’t have to get involved. So the [ACT 
Officers] can actually do the de-escalation 
which is helpful.” – Emergency Health Care 

“We want the society to be safe and happy and, you know, [ACT clients] are a part 
of that. And so, it doesn’t help by ignoring them or locking them up or any of that, it 

helps by changing [our response to mental illness].” – Victoria Integrated Court 

Page 29 of 75



Page 19 

In the Victoria Integrated Court, ACT Officers were described as “fair-minded” and “supportive 
of the participant” in providing information to the court about the individual’s current level of 
functioning. Interviewees stated that their embeddedness helps with open communication about 
clients’ needs. ACT Officers were often able to advocate for clients by describing their recent 
attempts to make improvements in their life.  

Interviewees also noted that ACT Officers’ embeddedness with other systems has the benefit of 
changing ACT officers’ perspectives on mental health. This change in perspective also goes in 
the other direction as a result of ACT Officers’ embeddedness, with individuals in other service 
agencies realizing that ACT Officers can be trusted to come into a situation without immediately 
making an arrest or somehow escalating the problem. 

A key aspect of embeddedness with the ACT team is 
a fast and compassionate response, which is made 
possible by their integration and dedication to the 
ACT teams. ACT Officers do not have to attend to 
non-ACT calls, and so have the availability and 
knowledge to move quickly and effectively during 
crisis situations. This fast response is helpful for 
preventing individuals from escalating in ways that 
might cause harm to themselves or others.  

Preventing Harm 

Similar to our last report, interviewees discussed how ACT Officers can identify and prevent 
problems before they escalate, instead of waiting to react to individuals who are already 
destabilized, and that they did so in a caring way. A key aspect of ACT Officer’s prevention efforts 
is having a good sense of the person’s history and needs. They work proactively and flexibly to 
create a solution to help the individual change problematic behaviour. Their responses are adapted 
to individuals’ concerns, including reducing officers’ obvious presence when possible to reduce 

“From a police officer’s perspective, they could have arrested almost 
everybody we worked with, but we had a bigger goal, if you will…to try to 
get people stabilized and change their behaviour. And so not committing 

crimes, you know, not going to the hospital, the emergency all the time. We 
were trying to assist them in making shifts. So, all of the [ACT] officers that I 

worked with were able to make that shift.” – Victoria Integrated Court 

“They respond more to us [than 
uniformed police officers] and they are 

more collaborative. If we say this is 
going on, [the ACT Officer says], ‘What 
can we do?’, ‘How can we work to help 
support this person?’”– Social Service 

Provider 

Page 30 of 75



  
 

Page 20 
 

backlash in the community to police presence. 

Psychiatric Emergency Services staff noted that when ACT Officers initiate involuntary 
hospitalizations, the process can go more smoothly or be used more deliberately than when 
uniformed officers do so because of the existing relationships. This involvement can decrease 
trauma or escalation during involuntary hospitalizations.  

Finding and keeping housing is 
considered by the ACT program to be 
a key part of helping individuals stay 
stable in the community. Interviewees 
reported that ACT Officers were more 
likely than other police to help 
individuals stay in their homes when 
they were in psychological distress.  

For some individuals on ACT teams, 
preventing harm might mean that ACT Officers are more creative about how to stop victimization 
while also respecting the stigma that can come from being seen speaking with police.  

“[The ACT Officers have] got their record in their head, and they must read it before 
they come here because they’re usually pretty good and say ‘this has been an area 
where you’ve struggled in the past, and you know, what can we do to help you with 
that and what is it you’re not getting, how are you not getting your needs met that’s 

making this behaviour happen?’”– Social Service Provider 

“Instead of getting pulled into the station, or 
arrested, or maybe nothing happening and when it 

getting worse for the client, a plan was put into 
place and an action taken and in the long run it 
helped to maintain his housing.” – Social Service 

Provider 

“[An ACT client] can say to them, ‘Yeah it’s gotten way worse, I’m having a hard time 
maintaining my boundaries, I’ve had these people around and it’s really hard for me to 

engage safely when they’re here,’ and to have that officer get creative and be like … ‘Do 
you want me to talk with those people or is that gonna put you at risk?,’ ‘Do you want me 
to write you this letter or give you my card and put it on your door so these folks see it and 

they leave?’. That capacity to be creative and to understand that … to be seen to be 
associated with the police in the community makes people more at risk, is huge in creating 

more spaces for there to be positive outcomes.”– Social Service Provider 

Page 31 of 75



Page 21 

Authority 

Another consistent benefit heard through both the previous and current report was the authority 
that comes with being a police officer. As members of the police service, the ACT Officers have 
the power to give consequences. Many interviewees reported that individuals receiving services 
from the ACT program listen to the ACT Officers more than they listen to other care providers 
because of their authority. Some interviewees felt that the presence of an ACT Officer has a 
calming effect, as individuals receiving ACT services are less likely to escalate or “act out” when 
an ACT Officer is present. As a result, there are fewer disruptive exchanges that interfere with the 
person meeting their goals and there is greater compliance with treatment.  

Interviewees noted that the authoritative presence of ACT Officers was enough in many cases to 
encourage productive behaviours such as medication compliance, on-time court appearances, and 
appropriate interactions with service staff and 
fellow residents – behaviours that reduce the 
risk of hospitalization or incarceration. 
Interviewees noted that the presence of an ACT 
Officer can be particularly helpful in situations 
in which individuals may be behaving 
erratically due to crystal meth or other 
substance use. 

At a practical level, police officers are the only 
professionals authorized under the Mental Health Act to apprehend individuals in need of 
hospitalization due to an immediate risk of harm to themselves or others. Again, a known and 
trusted officer was considered by interviewees to be preferable in that situation to an unknown 
uniformed officer. 

“It’s more sending a message, offering a client 
support, before it turns into a situation where 
they have to come and arrest them and take 
them somewhere, either [apprehension] or to 

jail.”– Social Service Provider 

“No one else can [apprehend] a patient so that’s a key part. 
And doing that actual outreach, if physicians were more 

capable and willing to go out in the community and actually 
lay eyes on people then maybe the police officers’ role could 
be decreased. But then still, even if that physician went and 
saw someone, the cops would still have to come and scoop 

the patient up.” – Emergency Health Care 

Page 32 of 75



  
 

Page 22 
 

More broadly, a key benefit of ACT Officer 
authority comes with providing support to health 
care providers, particularly when visiting 
individuals with a history of violence or 
individuals living in potentially dangerous 
situations. A key mandate of the ACT program is 
outreach to vulnerable individuals and ACT 
Officer involvement helps the ACT team to 
engage actively with individuals in possibly 
hazardous circumstances. 

Another aspect of the authority theme that came through strongly this year is the concept of police 
authority as a way to leverage tangible benefits such as housing, for example, by communicating 
a sense of urgency to housing decision-makers about the importance of individuals in the ACT 
program receiving housing as a part of their 
treatment plan.  Their authority also helps to 
achieve intangible benefits such as increased 
respect and accommodation within institutional 
systems. That is, ACT Officers use their authority 
to overcome gaps in health and social services 
and help individuals get additional resources and 
respect that are often difficult for individuals with 
serious mental illness to achieve.  

 
Reduce System Burden 

Finally, we heard repeatedly that the presence of ACT Officers significantly reduced the burden 
on other elements of the social service and criminal justice systems. Interviewees emphasized 
that there can be the significant reductions in expensive and potentially traumatizing hospital 
admissions for individuals who become involved with the ACT program.   

“We have people who have significant substance use issues here who have had like tens 
upon tens of upwards of like 50 hospital presentations in a month and then they get 
connected with one of the ACT teams and they get that extra support of having case 
management from the health care provider as well as having the ACT Officer there to 

facilitate any sort of care that they would need or at least need to be present for, and it 
completely decreases the hospital presentations.” – Victoria Integrated Court 

“When you’re there with somebody who is 
seen as having very, very little power and 

you’re showing up in a position of power and 
you’re seen as being there to bear witness I 

think it impacts how people treat [the 
situation]”– Social Services Provider 

“If somebody’s going in our buildings … to 
go see somebody by themselves, if there’s 

history of violence, then … that extra 
layer of authority might be positive for 

the person going.”– Social Service 
Provider 

Page 33 of 75



Page 23 

Another aspect of this theme was 
reducing the burden on uniformed 
officers who otherwise would respond to 
calls related to the ACT teams, but with 
much less knowledge and expertise in 
working with individuals with serious 
mental illness.  

Finally, ACT Officers are seen as 
particularly important for individuals 
with more disruptive behaviours who 
otherwise would not be able to access 
ACT services but who may be causing 
the greatest burden on mental health and 
criminal justice services.  

“What we often talk about too is system 
transference, like someone’s always going to have 

to pay for this. And I think if the police, they tend to -
- because of the nature of the environment – they’re 

spending a lot of time dealing with these clients 
anyways, so if you don’t have the kind of proactive 
things that [the ACT Officers] are doing, you’re just 

going to end up somehow… like someone else is 
going to have to pick up the workload, and it usually 

ends up being patrol that ends up dealing with 
that.” – Emergency Health Services 

“I think it’s so cost effective. Absolutely. 100%. And even seeing people who aren’t 
connected with any sort of resource and the amount of times that they’re presenting to 

the emergency department and like it costing upwards of say a thousand dollars for 
each presentation, as opposed to having them connected with a team and having that 

team be able to interact with them daily and have their… you know, ‘Is it a housing 
issue?’, ‘Is it a social issue?’, ‘Is it like a law or legal issue?’ … [can we] address it outside 
of hospital and get you connected with whatever it is that would help you increase your 
wellness. And if that’s having the ACT Officers present, I mean, initially and then maybe 
as you become more well you don’t need the ACT Officers’ involvement as much, then I 
think that’s fine but there’s definitely clients who you cannot interact with if there’s not 

police involvement.” – Emergency Health Services 

Page 34 of 75



Page 24 

Drawbacks 

Criminal justice and health care respondents recognized some challenges with police officer 
integration on ACT teams. However, for these groups, the overall picture was one of beneficial 
effects of police on ACT teams and positive experiences with the ACT Officers themselves. Within 
the social service sector, there were also many overall positive views, but these respondents 
reported the most concerns with police officer involvement on ACT teams. The most negative 
view came from the respondent without firsthand experience of the ACT Officers. For this person, 
the officers were seen as decidedly harmful. A few other social service respondents regretted that 
officers were involved in mental health care, but a) also saw times when officer involvement was 
beneficial and/or b) did not see an alternative in the current system. Several social service providers 
thought that police officers on ACT teams were not a good use of funds, and that police were only 
involved on ACT teams because of  a lack of resources as well as many gaps in the system overall. 
Similar to the perceived benefits, the drawbacks discussed were consistent with the themes we 
heard in our original set of interviews. 

DRAWBACKS

Stigma

Risk of 
Conse-

quences

Inflam-
matory 
Effect

Re-trigger 
Trauma

Not 
Available 
Enough

Page 35 of 75



  
 

Page 25 
 

Stigma 

Several social service interviewees discussed 
the stigma that individuals receiving services 
from the ACT program may feel by having a 
police officer involved. For some, the issue is 
one of perception – that there is a natural 
resistance to being involved with police. One 
interviewee expressed concern that the 
presence of police officers on the ACT teams 
sends the implicit message that individuals with 
mental health issues are violent and dangerous, 
which did not match the interviewee’s 
experience with individuals on ACT. Others 
voiced similar concern that it is possible that the 
mere fact that a police officer is involved could 
make a person feel that they are seen as a 
criminal, even if the officers themselves are 
positive and helpful.  

Because of the negative reputation of police in some marginalized communities, these same social 
service workers voiced concern that individuals who are seen interacting with the police may 
receive “backlash” from others, such as suspicion that they are informants or “rats.” One 
interviewee did note that most people understand that the person being visited did not make the 
choice to include police. A few people spoke to the nuanced experiences of some individuals 
receiving services from ACT teams – the need to maintain an image of not liking the police, but 
at the same time finding themselves appreciating or benefiting from the assistance of ACT 
Officers. Interestingly, one person also reflected this tension for social service workers: not 
wanting to be perceived by fellow employees as liking the police, even if they are perceived as at 
least sometimes helpful.  

Risk of Consequences  

The police undeniably have greater power, and this reality can theoretically create challenges. Both 
Victoria Integrated Court (VIC) and Social Service interviewees mentioned the potential increased 
risk of consequences for the individuals receiving services from ACT teams due to police officer 
involvement. For the VIC members, the concern was the possibility that the Crown potentially has 
more information available to them than would be typical. Another VIC interviewee acknowledged 
this risk, but also felt that trust builds among the people within the system so that this concern 
rarely comes to fruition.  

“…there’s this image of a mentally ill person 
being flailing and wild and running through the 
streets and violent and dangerous and none of 
my clients, none of my clients are violent and 

dangerous.” – Social Service Worker 

“…if a police officer is attached to something 
then by that you are somehow a criminal, like 

just, you know what I mean? I think, and so 
there’s got to be a stigma related to that” – 

Social Service Worker 

Page 36 of 75



  
 

Page 26 
 

From the social service point of view, a 
drawback was the stress created by the risk of 
facing consequences for illegal behavior. In 
addition, one social service worker talked about 
the stress of being restrained for forced 
medication administration, something which is 
traumatizing for the individual and people 
around them who witness the interaction. Social 
service providers also expressed concern that 
recipients of ACT services might not be as open 
with their teams because the police are involved and that the presence of officers on ACT teams 
made it more difficult for individuals receiving services from ACT teams to form trusting 
relationships. But here again, others noted that these relationships evolve over time, and that the 
stable presence of the ACT Officers is often beneficial in overcoming the challenges of the inherent 
difference in power. Some social services interviewees disagreed that this was a drawback, stating 
instead that people quickly see that the ACT Officers are not there to lay charges, they are there to 
support. These perspectives stress that the risk of consequences was only hypothetical, and that 
the ACT Officers quickly build credibility.   

 

Inflammatory Effect on Behaviour 

At least one interviewee from each group (social services, VIC, and emergency services) 
mentioned the possibility that the presence of a police officer has the potential to escalate a 
situation. This was seen to be particularly likely for individuals who feel they have no choice about 
being on an ACT team. The lack of trust some individuals have for police officers overall, based 
on their own personal experiences and stories passed down within families and within 
marginalized communities, underlies the potential inflammatory effect. For example, there may 
be a perception that people are “bringing the muscle” when police are included or that whatever is 
happening is particularly serious to require police involvement. Some interviewees said that the 
only time they have seen escalation of behaviour due to police involvement is when someone is 
being taken to hospital against their will. Sometimes interviewees made the point that the lack of 
trust in the police was temporary – that “at first” there was a lack of trust, but that experience with 
the ACT Officers specifically was able to counteract that initial lack of trust with time. 

“Being seen to be a team that includes officers, I think it would have a pretty 
substantial impact on folks’ experience of trust. Um, and I know that the ACT team 

works to, um, communicate to folks that trust can still be had and that officers are a 
part of the team but in a different way, and it’s kind of… it’s difficult to overcome 

optics, I think to a degree.” – Social Service Worker 

“…when someone doesn’t even want to be 
seen with a police office, much less trust 

them, um, yeah it’s… again, it’s just 
someone who’s capable of holding by force, 

it’s a little difficult to like welcome that, 
with a gun on them, right?” – Social Service 

Worker 

Page 37 of 75



  
 

Page 27 
 

Nonetheless, some individuals who 
receive services from ACT teams 
feel suspicion, and at times, 
antagonism, towards the police. As a 
result, the inclusion of a police 
officer in an ACT team interaction 
can agitate behavior. Several 
interviewees who made this point 
also reflected that the benefits of 
having an ACT Officer involved 
outweighed these concerns.  
 
Re-trigger Trauma 

A lack of trust in the police overall can also result in police presence potentially re-triggering past 
traumas. The majority of 
social service providers 
discussed this potential 
drawback. For vulnerable 
individuals who have 
experienced trauma and 
powerlessness in their 
lives, the mere presence of 
a police officer – and the 
powers that come with that 
role – can be traumatic. 
This is a significant challenge for police officers, including those on the ACT teams, as it is not 
based on anything specific that they, themselves, are necessarily doing.  

Not Available Enough 

A few social service workers mentioned that they felt 
the ACT Officers are not available enough – either that 
there should be more dedicated officers on the ACT 
teams and/or that their hours should be expanded. Two 
VIC interviewees made similar comments, although in 
their cases, they were reflecting feedback they had 
received from other members of the ACT team. Officer 
involvement with Victoria Integrated Courts was less 
affected because the courts operate during normal 
business hours and assisting in court proceedings at VIC is a priority for the ACT Officers. 

“I have some concerns about them just coming in and freely 
walking the halls, ‘cos you know it’s not… it can send people the 

other way as well, and when someone’s affected like these clients 
are, and they’ve had a lot of trauma in their life, that can also be 

trigger trauma. And even though everybody’s already working 
really hard at that, that’s still an officer walking the hall.” – Social 

Service Worker 

“If you have any sort of, you know, idea about the sort 
of street community, most of them don’t think very 
highly of the police, So, you know, workers show up 
with a police officer and they’re coming in to talk to 

somebody, especially if people see other people in the 
building, then it’s not gonna… they’re not gonna be 
very agreeable to that situation.” – Social Service 

Worker 

“Their hours aren’t great – they’re 
Monday to Friday 8:00 until 4:00, so if 
there is an incident that happens after 

4pm or on the weekends, which is when 
there’s less staff, less qualified staff, and 
um, less supports available, they’re not 

available.” – Social Service Worker 

Page 38 of 75



Page 28 

Subgroups who Benefit the Most and Least from ACT Officer Involvement 

We asked respondents whether there were any groups of individuals (for example, based on 
particular mental health diagnoses, or substance use, race, gender, etc.) who would be particularly 
helped or harmed by having police officers on ACT teams.  

Most Benefitted 

In general, interviewees felt there was utility to having ACT Officers embedded on all ACT teams, 
even if not all individuals on ACT teams were in need of services.  

Interviewees did not feel that any characteristics, 
such as gender, age, indigeneity, or racialization 
predicted who would benefit most from having 
ACT Officers as part of the team.  Instead, 
interviewees pointed to an individual’s level of 
functioning as being a more important 
determinant. Interviewees felt that individuals 
who were functioning at a lower level benefitted 
from the integration of ACT Officers. This 
includes individuals with co-occurring mental 
health and addiction issues, and those who are 
particularly in need of outreach services. The 
presence of ACT Officers made it more likely for 
these individuals to be accepted onto ACT teams 
and facilitated outreach to more dangerous living situations. 

“They’re the clients who struggle with housing, 
struggle with mental health, struggle with 

addictions. Those are the clients who tend to 
really do the best with it. Some of them are 

cognitively challenged, and they really need that 
sense… they need people in their lives that are 

regular, predictable, able to provide the array of 
services that they need. They’re the clients who 

would struggle to do that on their own.” – Victoria 
Integrated Court 

“I believe that the police, or the integrated police should be working at all the 
teams, and they do actually at this point, because it can be helpful, it’s like an 

addictions recovery worker, they should be having them on all the teams. Like it’s 
all sort of a piece that we need for all of it because they’re… some clients maybe 

never have any legal issues, and that’s fine, and they may never meet an 
integrated police officer. But for the ones that we do use it for, which is probably 

eighty percent of our clientele, at least, it is of value.” – Social Service Worker 

Page 39 of 75



  
 

Page 29 
 

Further, individuals who are fearful due 
to paranoia or a risk of victimization may 
feel comforted and protected by the 
presence of ACT Officers. Knowing that 
there is a trusted, compassionate officer 
who can assist in the case of danger or 
assault or who can intervene when risk of 
victimization is high can help promote 
psychiatric stabilization for fearful ACT 
clients. 

  

Least Benefitted 

As with benefits, some respondents did not identify any particular types of people who might 
experience more drawbacks. They felt that if police were involved, they must be needed.  

Other respondents identified various vulnerable or marginalized communities as particularly 
likely to experience negative effects from police involvement, due to a history of negative 
experiences with the police that have taught them that the police are not safe. These communities 
include individuals who are experiencing homeless, indigenous peoples, black people, LGBTQ 

individuals, women, and sex workers. For many of these communities, to hear that the police are 
coming carries negative connotations. Unconscious biases may operate which encourage more 
force or power from police because of how disadvantaged or street entrenched individuals look. 

“… if the person is like, you know, “okay that didn’t go well for me”, uh, 
typically it’s because the police took them to the hospital and they didn’t want 

to go. But they required it. If the police are there, it’s usually because the 
person’s now off their baseline.” – Social Service Worker 

“It’s always going to be problematic. 
It’s a culture, right? Like, police are, 
like, especially for indigenous folks, 

like, police have quite the history, you 
know?” 

“I haven’t heard anyone say anything 
positive about police involvement, like 
that’s just not the street culture. Like 

the street community does not 
appreciate police involvement, right?” 

“That one client I was saying that was assaulted, 
he’s specifically very vulnerable, and so you know, 

…the ACT team’s aware of that, so the cases where 
he is taken advantage of, I think it is actually helpful 
that they’re watching more for that maybe. So, it is 

a benefit.” – Social Service Worker 

Page 40 of 75



  
 

Page 30 
 

One social service interviewee felt strongly that the presence of police would always escalate 
matters when interacting with the homeless population. Another interviewee described how the 
downtown homeless population already feels targeted and watched by the police. Having an officer 
on an ACT team increases their sense of being targeted.  

A second group identified as being potentially most likely to experience negative effects of police 
involvement on ACT are individuals who have criminal records, or are violent, and or who are 
currently using substances such as crystal methamphetamine. These are the same individuals 
who often require the most intensive police involvement (e.g., for the safety of ACT staff and 
others who support the individual). One person at VIC described how police presence has been a 
negative trigger for people before the court who were currently committing crimes and “seriously 
into drug use,” to the extent that this person involved police as little as possible in those specific 
situations. Other interviewees noted that individuals with a history of serious violence could 
benefit, but only if they were motivated to make changes to their behaviour and were open to 
receiving the support of ACT Officers to help them do so.  

With respect to this latter group, some concern was raised in the emergency services sector that in 
inclusion of individuals on ACT teams who are using substances or who are diagnosed with 
personality disorders is changing the nature of the ACT teams away from the original treatment 
model. There is a dilemma here, because individuals with mental illness and a history of serious 
violence would not be admitted to ACT teams without 
the availability of ACT Officers. There are not enough 
alternative treatment options, which puts pressure on 
ACT teams to expand the parameters of their services. 
Thus, on the one hand, police officers on ACT teams 
make the inclusion of individuals with violent or 
criminal backgrounds on ACT teams more feasible, 
providing a treatment avenue where none would 
otherwise exist. On the other hand, concern was raised that doing so is inching the ACT teams 
farther and farther away from the original evidence-based model of health care.  

Overall, the relationship between the police and various communities that are served by the ACT 
program are complex. Some social service workers expressed optimism and noted the positive 
changes they have observed in the police and justice system. On the other hand, one social service 
worker was notably pessimistic, not seeing any way in which police could improve their 
relationships with Indigenous Peoples or the street community.  
  

“But, you know, if you’re still using 
crack, crystal meth, dealing with drug 

dealers, just being seen with the 
police can be dangerous.” 

Page 41 of 75



Page 31 

FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS 

1. Does police involvement on an ACT team “criminalize” mental health?

A frequently expressed concern is that the presence of police officers on a health care service
a) sends the message, implicitly or explicitly, that the individual receiving care is dangerous or
is a criminal, and b) subjects the individual to a greater likelihood of coercive control or arrest.
Our results suggest that this is not the case. As one participant in the social service community
member stated, “Anyone who understands the ACT team knows that this isn’t what happens.”

As discussed above, in certain circumstances, there is legitimate concern that bringing a police 
officer along for an outreach health care visit sends the message to the individual that they are 
dangerous. And sometimes, the ACT officers do exert some control. This is most evident when 
the ACT officers are required to bring an individual to the hospital for an involuntary 
admission. Other times, due to the effects of substances or psychosis, the individual presents a 
risk of violence to the health care team. These types of instances rely on the authority of the 
police, and in that respect, could be seen as exerting control that is contrary to health care 
relationships.  However, these examples describe times when police involvement is 
unavoidable because of circumstances such as involuntary hospitalization. In these situations 
in which police are involved, our findings suggest that it is considerably better for the 
individual if the police officer is known to them (i.e., one of the ACT Officers) than if the 
officer is a less familiar uniformed officer. The stable presence of ACT Officers on teams has 
typically resulted in a level of trust that helps de-escalate tensions in these challenging 
circumstances, to the benefit of everyone. The ACT Officers ask why a behavior occurring, 
and work with that understanding, rather than just imposing punitive measures. Rather than 
criminalizing mental health challenges, the presence of officers on the ACT teams diverts 
people from the criminal justice system by keeping them within the health care system. 

The concern that ACT Officers only or even primarily operate in an “enforcement” capacity, 
prioritizing arrest and criminal charges, is not supported by our findings. The vast majority of 
people interviewed provided examples and experiences that suggest that the ACT Officers do 
not treat mental health issues as criminal issues. In fact, our findings suggest that one of the 
strengths of integrated ACT Officers is that they come to know many of the individuals 
receiving care from ACT teams very well. The majority of every stakeholder group we 
interviewed identified the strong relationships that ACT Officers form with individuals on 
ACT teams as the key strength of the model. This stable relationship helps the officers 
understand potentially erratic behavior in the context of mental health and addictions rather 
than criminality. In this way, even in more crisis-driven situations, the ACT Officers are less 
likely to respond to erratic or potentially violent behavior with punishment/arrest than perhaps 
a uniformed officer would. Instead, the ACT officers are more likely to respond in a way that 

Page 42 of 75



Page 32 

is supportive. Their involvement on ACT teams is intended to help keep individuals out of jail, 
not to seek out opportunities to put them in jail.  

Further, the ACT Officers are not only involved in crisis-driven situations. The ACT Officers 
contribute to the ACT teams in the role of supporting mental health goals; they do not lead 
with an enforcement mandate. Many times, the ACT Officer’s role is to help keep the 
individual safe. Our interviews suggest that the ACT officers impose legal sanctions only when 
absolutely necessary and when doing so is believed to be in the individual’s best long-term 
interests. Further, when the ACT team makes the decision that an individual could benefit most 
from hospitalization, an ACT Officer who is familiar and trusted is far less likely to traumatize 
an individual whose mental health is decompensating than an unknown uniformed officer who 
may not have the same degree of skill in interacting with an individual in severe mental health 
crisis.  

2. Could anyone else fulfill the role of the ACT Officer?

We asked this of each person we interviewed and did not
receive any clear or consistent message of how the
contribution of the ACT Officer to the ACT team could
be replaced with a person in a different role. Some
aspects of the ACT Officers’ roles overlap with others
on the ACT team, such as building trusting relationships
and supporting the individual’s stability in the
community. In that respect, the officers are not unique.

The few voices that were in favour of replacing ACT
Officers included the following points:

• Everyone (on ACT teams and in other sectors) should have strong de-escalation skills
– that teams should not require the police involvement for that purpose.

• If the police are required to make workplaces safer for staff, then perhaps the staff
should “find a new line of work” (if they require the police to feel safe).

• Police are sometimes needed for wellness checks, but not always; sometimes wellness
checks could be done by a nurse, as long as there were two people present.

• Peer support should be utilized instead of police presence.

Examples of several robust peer support models were provided, in which individuals with lived 
experience play an integral role in providing support and practical assistance (e.g., driving to 
appointments). The examples were compelling, but the peer support roles do not cover the 
range of functions that ACT Officers fulfill on ACT teams. In addition, other participants 

“There’s probably better ways to do 
things than having police on mental 

health teams, I do, but honestly, I 
think we’re a long way from the 

structure that would allow for it.” – 
Social Service Worker 

Page 43 of 75



  
 

Page 33 
 

raised concerns about reliance of peer support alone in the context of severe mental illness, 
noting that peer support workers would require substantial training and would risk quick burn 
out. 

Overall, we more often heard the opinion that no one 
else could fulfill the role of the ACT Officers.   

Our results suggest that the ACT Officers are uniquely 
positioned to fulfill functions such as: 

• Supporting the individual through Victoria 
Integrated Court proceedings to achieve the most 
supportive outcomes. 

• Responding to potentially violent situations.   
• Accompanying the individual to the hospital if 

deemed medically necessary (a role defined under the Mental Health Act and restricted 
to police officers). 

• Attending to ACT clients’ reports of criminal victimization or harassment. 

We also heard that ACT Officers are particularly effective at things such as:  

• Adding urgency to situations, such as securing and maintaining supportive housing for 
individuals most in need.  

• Sending the message that a situation is serious in ways that effectively get the attention 
of ACT clients (e.g., to comply with a housing regulation so that they do not get 
evicted). 

• Providing a bridge between the health system, social service agencies, and the criminal 
justice system. 

• Preventing repeated hospitalizations, the need for crisis response services, or 
involvement with the criminal justice system. 

Most often, the view that no one else could fulfill the role stemmed from the fact that no one 
else carries the authority of police officers. This view was expressed by interviewees from 
every sector: 

• “Police have the most access to the most of anything, including the psyc ward. They 
are well connected and knowledgeable about community services, and the police 
consult more than anyone else.”  (Social Services)  
 

• “No, because when you do need them in the ‘this is the law and you need to do this’ 
way, they bring that authority that a social worker or I or a peer worker is not going 
to bring and can’t bring.” (Family member) 

“No, I absolutely do not think 
that by increasing nurses or 
increasing social workers or 

increasing mental health 
workers, do I think that they 

could fulfill the same role. Zero 
per cent.” – Emergency Health 

Care 

Page 44 of 75



Page 34 

• “To say, I think, it should just be social workers doing all of this, is to not acknowledge
how much power is held by officers in the justice system in Canada. And to be able to
access that power through people who are able to, sort of, engage in ways that do less
harm is, I think, a huge benefit.” (Social Services)

Others felt police involvement is necessary since no one else would be willing and able to 
show up in a crisis in the middle of the night. The closest example of someone who could step 
into the ACT Officer role is a Community Resource Officer (CRO), as these individuals are 
similarly effective at outreach and relationship building. However, the CROs are police 
officers just like the ACT Officers (and unlike ACT Officers, they wear a uniform). Also, 
because CROs are not dedicated to the ACT team, response times would go up and so 
responses would likely be crisis-driven versus prevention-oriented. 

3. What would the impact be if the current ACT Officers were cut or eliminated?

Removing the ACT Officers from the teams will affect the experiences of current recipients of
ACT services. If officers are removed from the ACT teams, there will be less stability in the
relationships between vulnerable individuals receiving services from the ACT program and
police officers. The trust that often develops between recipients of ACT services and the ACT
Officers can be critical in minimizing the extent to which police involvement re-triggers past
traumas. Some individuals on ACT teams will have contact with police officers whether or not
there are integrated ACT Officers. For these individuals, if the ACT Officers are removed from
the teams, encounters with the police will cause greater stress because uniformed officers they
do not know, and may not trust, will attend to them. In addition, they will interact with officers
who do not know their history and who do not have knowledge of their specific mental health
concerns. Finally, they would be attended to by an officer who may have less knowledge and
training about how to best intervene with individuals who experience mental health challenges.
For example, many people receiving ACT services are on extended leave status from the
hospital; if their mental health deteriorates and they need to return to the hospital, this will be
done by a uniformed officer and may increase the likelihood of physical altercations and stress.
All of these factors place the individual who is receiving services from the ACT team at a
disadvantage, as interacting with an unfamiliar officer is more likely to cause stress for the
individual and more likely to be experienced as punitive and threatening.

Removing the ACT Officers from the teams will also affect the services that can be offered.
For example, when there was only one officer serving all of the ACT teams, the officer was
only able to respond to crisis/emergent situations. The preventative benefits were largely not
achieved with only one officer. As one interviewee stated, “I remember when we only had one
police officer on the team, ‘cos there was for the longest time just one that was attached to
VICOT … and then that person was, you know, being pulled in a bunch of different directions

Page 45 of 75



  
 

Page 35 
 

and so they had to expand it. So even with one it wasn’t enough, and we had to kind of get 
several police officers.” 

Removing the officers from the teams would also require the ACT teams to look closely at 
how they interact with recipients of ACT services, and personal contact may be reduced (e.g., 
more services occurring in an office or behind a counter). Removing officers from the ACT 
program also means that fewer vulnerable individuals would receive services from the ACT 
program because individuals who have a severe mental disorder and who also have a history 
of violence may not be admitted into the program in the first place. Some individuals currently 
receiving services from the ACT program may be discharged from the ACT program, reducing 
the support available to them. In addition, the ACT teams are not allowed to go to certain 
locations without police escort (according to Island Health rules). Thus, outreach services 
would be curtailed, or the ACT team would be accompanied by a uniformed officer (or perhaps 
two), which could create greater disturbance for the person receiving help. Finally, individuals 
appearing before the Victoria Integrated Court may not receive as much support as they would 
have otherwise. As one interviewee from Victoria Integrated Court said, “If they weren’t there, 
the information would be less timely, less up to date and less complete. Yeah. That’s the same 
with probation, with the mental health workers, everybody brings something to bear.” 

As one participant bluntly stated, removing officers from ACT teams would “criminalize 
mental health” concerns. This statement may be counterintuitive but reflects the fact that ACT 
Officers divert individuals from the criminal justice system. The ACT Officers understand 
mental illness and are able to humanize the “criminality” that may be seen in this population, 
looking beyond the surface behaviours to try to understand why the behaviour is happening. 
Regular uniformed officers are less likely to have the time or the training to do the same. 
Instead of removing officers we often heard the perspective that “we need more support, not 
less.” 

4. Do these findings apply to all aspects of police involvement with mental health? 
 
No. The ACT program is just one health care program designed to meet mental health needs 
in the community. It is just one example of how police officers intersect with individuals who 
have mental health concerns. Our findings are limited to this specific program. It is important 
to differentiate among various ways in which police are involved with vulnerable populations 
in the community and avoid all-or-nothing statements in either direction (i.e., that the police 
are always helpful or that the police always cause harm).  
 
The ACT program is designed specifically to provide ongoing care and stabilization for 
individuals with severe and persistent mental illness, and hence ongoing and prevention-based 
care is essential to avert repeated crises or deterioration. A different model of care is needed 
for individuals with more transient or intermittent mental health concerns. This includes a 

Page 46 of 75



Page 36 

different level of police involvement. Individuals who have achieved a greater level of stability 
and wellbeing require less (or in some cases, no) police involvement. This was highlighted by 
our interviews with people in the STEP program, who had “graduated” from the ACT program 
and who had no direct experience with police involvement.     

Our results suggest that the way in which police officers are integrated onto ACT teams is 
having a positive effect. Our findings also offer guidance regarding the conditions under which 
police officer involvement adds value to a health care team (e.g., the importance of 
relationships, embeddedness, stability) that could inform other efforts to address the 
intersection of mental health and substance use issues. In the ACT model, the police officers 
who are integrated onto ACT teams have chosen this assignment because of their interests and 
beliefs about mental disorders; this is not a position that any uniformed officer might rotate 
through. In addition, the ACT Officers have been selected for their empathy, respect for 
dignity, and their understanding of the ways in which mental health disorders may show up in 
erratic behaviour.  

There is a large continuum of needs in our community, and there is substantial room for mental 
health and substance use services that do not include police integration. However, that does 
not mean that police involvement is never appropriate or advantageous, and it is not a rationale 
for dismantling a program that is helping vulnerable people.  

Page 47 of 75



Page 37 

LIMITATIONS 

Several limitations to the current study are important to note. First, our study did not include a 
control group of individuals without police officers as part of their ACT team because all teams in 
Victoria have access to ACT Officers. For that reason, it is not possible to know if perceptions of 
benefits or drawbacks of ACT Officers might be due in part to other changes in the ACT program 
or in society over time, and not specifically to police impact. We also do not know if perceptions 
of benefits or drawback are due to biases of the interviewees, such as their overall positive or 
negative attitudes towards policing and mental health. Although we did not have a formal control 
group, some interviewees were able to compare their perceptions of instances in which individuals 
were attended to by no officers, uniformed officers, or ACT Officers. These contrasts provide a 
bit of an internal comparison of the three approaches. However, they do not represent an 
experiment in which police are randomly assigned to be involved in some situations and not others. 

Second, our sample size of 22 individuals, drawn from a variety of health, social, and criminal 
justice systems, as well as several individuals with lived experience in the ACT program, is 
relatively small in the context of the number of people who interact with the ACT program in 
Victoria. The goal of qualitative research, however, is to collect a sample of in-depth interviews 
until a saturation point is reached in which no new themes emerge from the data. This saturation 
point is estimated to be roughly 16 interviews, but can vary based on the complexity of the topic 
and diversity of the interviewees. A key piece of evidence showing that we achieved saturation in 
this study is that the themes that emerged from the interviews were captured repeatedly by 
statements from individuals from various perspectives and experiences. Further, most themes were 
consistent with themes heard from the previous report and the new themes that emerged were 
understandable in the context of interviewees who often saw the impact of ACT Officers in related 
contexts (e.g., health care and corrections workers noting reductions in hospitalizations and 
incarcerations). Importantly, the consistency in themes observed across different perspectives 
included the critical voice of the individuals with lived experience on ACT teams. These 
individuals made up only 18% of the current sample, but accounted for approximately half of the 
sample from the previous report. 

Third, qualitative research does not aim to generalize findings to other populations. Our study is 
specific to the officers who are currently a part of the Victoria ACT program. We are not able to 
generalize our findings to other officers, ACT programs, mental health services, or geographical 
regions. The themes that emerged from this research only answer the specific question of the 
benefits and drawbacks of the integration of the three current officers onto ACT teams in Victoria. 

Page 48 of 75



Page 38 

NEXT STEPS 
We plan to supplement the current findings with several additional research methods that will 
continue to provide a broad-based perspective on the integration of police onto ACT teams. First, 
we are interviewing family members and others who are central in the lives of the recipients of 
ACT services, because these significant relationships can provide a window on how individuals 
have experienced police involvement over time and in various stages of their psychiatric illness 
(e.g., both periods of wellbeing and deterioration).  

Second, we are currently conducting an anonymous online survey of current ACT staff to follow 
up on several additional questions that have emerged from our research to date. This format will 
also provide space for individuals who might have been reluctant or unable to participate in the 
initial in-person interviews that were conducted in 2017 to share their perspectives. 

Third, we will supplement our qualitative findings with a quantitative study of databases with 
numerical data regarding the frequency of ACT clients’ hospitalizations, incarcerations, 
interactions with crisis response services, and other aspects of service use. We plan to look at 
changes over time for individuals on ACT teams to see if changes in their service use can be 
predicted by changes in their involvement with the ACT program, as well as the number of ACT 
Officers currently on the team. We will also be able to compare service use during periods in which 
there was only one officer integrated with the ACT program, compared to years in which there 
have been three officers.  

Fourth, we would like to conduct a study in which we follow people who are new to an ACT team 
over time from the point of entering the program. We would like to explore how individuals 
experience the ACT Officers in both crisis and non-crisis situations. By talking with the same 
person on multiple occasions, we will be able to get first-hand accounts of ACT Officer 
interactions as they happen, rather than relying on global retrospective impressions. This will allow 
us to understand how the relationship between individuals on ACT teams and ACT Officers 
changes over time. We will also be able to specifically examine crisis experiences that involve 
ACT Officers, versus situations in which uniformed officers are involved, or situations in which 
no officers are present. Doing so will help us understand further, from the perspective of the person 
with mental illness, the ways in which ACT Officers add to or detract from wellbeing and quality 
of life. 

Page 49 of 75



Page 39 

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

On balance, our evidence suggests that the ACT Officers are adding to more positive outcomes for 
individuals who receive services from the ACT program. Continual improvement of mental health 
and substance use treatment is essential, including open dialogue about the situations in which 
police can contribute, and the situations that do not require or benefit from police involvement. 
However, police should not be excluded purely on principle; the advantages and disadvantages of 
police involvement should be explicitly considered in each situation.  

The evidence suggests police integration on ACT teams has an overall benefit. The ACT model is 
not perfect, and the involvement of police officers on the ACT teams is not without challenges. It 
is incorrect, however, to say that individuals with ACT teams will not engage with the police or 
that they do not experience benefit or even welcome the assistance. At the same time, it is 
important to acknowledge that negative perceptions of the police exist in some segments of the 
community, and that these perceptions make it more difficult to experience the benefits of police 
involvement.   

The ACT Officers are not the first line of professionals who are delivering mental health care. 
Instead, the picture that emerged is that the ACT Officers serve an effective support function on 
ACT teams that is not met in any other way. Because they are fulfilling a unique role on the ACT 
teams, there is concern that removing the limited police resources from the ACT program without 
new health and social service resources in place would be akin to pulling off the bandage without 
a plan to treat the underlying condition. 

We encourage an ongoing dialogue to consider other models of community mental health care, but 
this dialogue must include a focus on prevention and long-term care for individuals with enduring 
mental health concerns. Otherwise, we risk returning to a model of crisis response and revolving 
door hospitalizations and incarcerations that would be extremely expensive to maintain and that 
would further harm already vulnerable individuals in our community.  

The health care system, social service agencies, and the criminal justice system have historically 
worked independently and sometimes at odds with each other to promote a robust community. 
Given that our society has moved to deinstitutionalize individuals with serious mental illness, our 
community needs to come together to support individuals who have the most difficulty living 
independently due to mental health concerns. This is an opportunity to forge more collaborative, 
compassionate, and tailored solutions for vulnerable individuals in our community. Such 
coordination, however, requires that individuals from different professions and worldviews find 
ways to talk and learn across differences rather than attempt to impose one solution on a complex 
challenge.     

Page 50 of 75



Page 40 

Although not meant to be comprehensive, we offer five recommendations.  

1 Individualized Care Plans on ACT teams 

We heard evidence for the beneficial effects of police involvement. There were also examples 
of times when police involvement is counter-indicated. This pattern underscores the core 
importance of individualizing the care of each individual on an ACT team based on their level 
of functioning and past experiences with police. Individualized care is already a defining 
feature of the ACT model and part of the ACT team’s typical operating procedures. We 
highlight it here anyway to underscore the importance of tailoring treatment to an individual, 
looking closely at individual needs. As one social service worker said, “Not all ACT clients 
need a cop; some need two.”  Individuals are typically on ACT teams over extended periods. 
As a result, people’s history and current needs are well known (compared to crisis-orientated 
services). This makes it easier to tailor the care to the individual.  

There are many possible “intensities” of the involvement of an ACT Officer with a person 
receiving services from the ACT program. The ACT Officer is written in as a formal part of 
the care plan for only a minority of individuals. On the other hand, many individuals with an 
ACT team interact with the ACT Officers in at least some limited capacity. Tailoring a care 
plan with respect to police involvement should include a consideration of criminal history and 
the likely benefits to the individual. Some of the questions that should be addressed include: 
Will the therapeutic relationship with the ACT Officer be experienced more as caring than 
enforcement? What is the potential for re-triggering past trauma, or of agitating behaviour? 
This tailoring should also take into account the intersectional identities that the person holds 
(e.g., based on gender identity, race, indigeneity, social class, etc.) with a recognition of the 
historical relations each identity may have with policing. In addition, individualized care plans 
should be re-visited with regularity. There may be difficult times, for example, that require an 
assertive response, but restrictions should be re-visited and lifted as soon as possible when 
individuals are more stable.  

2 Recognize Different Models of Police Involvement for Different Needs 

The question of police involvement on ACT teams must be understood in the context of the 
ACT program, which is a long-term program to stabilize individuals with severe and chronic 
mental health conditions in the community. It is not a crisis-oriented model. Crisis-oriented 
and long-term models serve different needs in the community – one cannot replace the other.  

A core component of the long-term care provided by ACT teams is prevention. The ACT 
program achieves its goal of stabilizing individuals in the community in part by helping to 
prevent deterioration and destabilization. The ACT Officers play an important role in that 
prevention. Crisis-oriented models are reactive to an acute situation, with less focus on 
prevention or long-term relationships. Police officers may be involved in both crisis-oriented 

Page 51 of 75



Page 41 

and long-term models of care, but the benefits and drawbacks of police officer involvement 
may be weighted quite differently in these two instances. Many of the concerns about police 
involvement may be particularly relevant to acute situations (e.g., re-triggering trauma) and 
can be mitigated in the context of long-term relationships. The ACT model includes both acute 
crisis and long-term involvement for police officers and cannot be readily compared with 
programs that are only crisis-oriented.  

The value of police involvement with mental health and substance use may depend on many 
factors, including the severity of the mental health or substance use issue, and the context of 
the intervention (e.g., crisis-oriented, long-term). Police involvement with mental health and 
substance use can be conceptualized on a continuum: from leading the response to no 
involvement at all. For some situations, such as a threat of violence, police may be one of the 
first responders. In other situations, peer supports, mental health clinicians, nurses, or others 
may take the lead, often without any police involvement. 

The ACT program model of integrated police officers can exist alongside innovative models 
of community-based responses to mental health needs (e.g., peer-driven interventions). The 
ACT model itself includes peer supports on the ACT team, and thus is a mixed peer-
professional intervention. However, peer supports do not replace professional support in the 
context of chronic mental illness – both are valuable. Peer support is invaluable for offering 
non-judgmental understanding. And as one interviewee stated, people who have had similar 
experiences are less likely to use power or force. In the context of the chronic vulnerability 
that characterizes individuals with severe mental illness, however, peer support alone is likely 
insufficient. As one participant stated, “Peer support is someone to hang onto; but he is not 
the help pushing the person forward. If he did that, it would ruin the support.”  

3 Enhance the Capacity of the Police to Respond to Mental Illness 

Police are often on the front line of responding to crises. The current crystal meth and fentanyl 
crises in Victoria have only increased the risk of unpredictable behaviour that can accompany 
deteriorating mental health. Thus, the need is greater than ever to have police officers who can 
differentiate between mental health and addictions versus criminality. For example, an 
individual threatening violence may be doing so because they want to take advantage of 
someone, but may also be doing so because they are experiencing paranoid delusions that make 
them believe the other person is out to get them. Ideally, police officers would be able to 
consider all of the possibilities and respond appropriately.  

More generally, there is value in improving the ability of the police service overall to interact 
effectively and compassionately with vulnerable and marginalized populations. Towards this 
end, the ACT Officers themselves could play a significant role in sharing their knowledge with 
other police officers. Some of this already happens informally, but the process could be 

Page 52 of 75



Page 42 

formalized. The majority of the drawbacks of police involvement on ACT stem from the legacy 
of past negative experiences with police officers, both individually (e.g., past traumatic 
experiences with police) and collectively (e.g., so that people do not want to be seen talking 
with police officers). Many people included in this study commented on how the police service 
in general has improved considerably in the last 10 -15 years. They reflected on a cultural 
change that is taking place in the police service in terms of what it means to be a police officer, 
moving from primarily enforcement to community-engagement and prevention. Continued 
improvement would have the specific impact of further reducing any potential drawbacks of 
officer integration onto ACT teams. Although the ACT Officers in particular have excellent 
knowledge of mental health, several participants discussed the importance of all police officers 
having an understanding of mental health and addictions. As one social service provider stated, 
“It shouldn’t be the luck of the draw, which officer shows up.” 

A systemic look at police interaction with marginalized populations would be valuable in its 
own right and would enhance the benefits of police integration on ACT teams. Individuals with 
ACT teams would also benefit if greater trust were established between the police and other 
groups. This includes downtown social service providers who work every day with vulnerable 
and marginalized members of the community. In addition, there was discussion with some 
participants about the ways in which police are building relationships with diverse 
communities in Victoria, and ways in which this effort could be expanded. There was 
considerable support for the value of police engagement with people from marginalized 
communities in fun, relationship-building capacities (e.g., playing soccer with youth, coming 
for lunch and interacting with children or elders). This type of relationship-building has the 
potential to break down barriers and encourage individuals to see the police in a different light 
when they show up in crises or other acute situations.  

4 Build Bridges across the Systems that Interact with the ACT Teams 

The ACT program exists in Victoria within a broad web of agencies that are committed to 
serving vulnerable members of the community.  As one social service worker stated, “The 
focus should be the system, not just the police.” In that regard, our impression is that some 
important relationships within the community are broken. We heard a need for there to be a 
place where people can sit down together and communicate across sectors. 

Currently there appear to be two “sides.” One side in favour of the police and the other 
opposed. This does not serve vulnerable individuals well because of the uncertainty this creates 
about the continued presence of police on their teams. A challenge for the future is to think 
deeply and critically about how to build bridges between these two perspectives so that policy 
makers can make informed decisions and individuals with severe mental illness can receive 
the best care possible. As mentioned above, there is clear evidence that the police are changing, 
and that police involvement can benefit vulnerable individuals. We also heard evidence of 

Page 53 of 75



Page 43 

situations where trust has built up between police and some social service providers. Yet deep 
divisions remain, and these divisions do not serve individuals such as those on ACT teams 
well. Indeed, it is often difficult for individuals on ACT teams and others to voice support for 
police given the social pressure to reject police involvement in mental health. We need to create 
systems that work for everyone; enduring change requires some degree of bridge-building 
between divergent perspectives.  

Although beyond the scope of this research, we also heard ample examples of other challenges 
and frustrations within the broader system in Victoria that had nothing to do with the police. 
For instance, we heard concerns about how Island Health interacts with social services with 
respect to housing. Within the social service community, we heard concerns that people will 
be discouraged from seeing the police as a resource, and will not seek them out when needed, 
due to a blanket rejection of the police as a whole by other segments of the social services. 
Other concerns revolved around the capacity of the health care system to address the needs in 
the community. This included a lack of openings within the ACT program, poor flow between 
services, lack of substance use rehabilitation services, and an insufficient number of staff at 
the hospital. As a result, we heard frustration that ACT services were hard to access and that 
emergency staff did not admit ill people to the hospital when they were apprehended despite 
an acute need of assistance. Finally, we heard concerns about a lack of mental health services 
for people in the helping professions (e.g., trauma services for people who work in social 
services, so that they do not have to take private leaves of absence). Although much broader 
than the specific question we began with related to the integration of police on ACT teams, 
these issues all intersect with the experience of individuals who have severe mental illness. For 
example, burn-out among ACT team members leads to absenteeism and staff turn-over, which 
negatively impacts the individuals who are receiving ACT services. Thus, addressing these 
broader systems issues would benefit everyone.  

We recommend a Mental Health Standing Committee or some other mechanism (e.g., building 
on a structure that already exists) that could allow for on-going dialogue across the relevant 
sectors (e.g. health, social service, law enforcement, criminal justice, community advocacy). 
Part of the function of this committee could be information-sharing. For example, we heard 
frustration from the social service community with respect to their perception that Island 
Health frequently changes the names of programs, and the community does not know whom 
to call when serious mental health issues arise. We also heard concerns from social services 
that the Pandora area is over-policed. Representatives on this committee could bring 
information back to their individual organizations. Our understanding is that conversations 
across sectors generally happen informally, if at all, or in reaction to specific events. A regular 
avenue for providing and receiving information would be valuable. This standing committee 
could also address broad issues related to the services that are available in the system and 
attempt to address gaps. We heard a number of perspectives on who in our community is 
“falling by the wayside” because services are not available. For example, we heard many times 

Page 54 of 75



Page 44 

that there are people in need of assistance, but who do not meet the mandate of the ACT 
program, either because they are not “severe” enough or because their presenting issues fall 
outside the ACT mandate. Because there are not adequate alternatives in our community, the 
ACT program stretches its boundaries to offer services beyond their mandate, which may have 
unintended consequences. A standing committee could provide a coordinated analysis of 
existing gaps in service.   

5 Advocate for Systems Change 

Innovative thinking about mental health care should occur in the context of addressing other 
systemic issues such as the lack of affordable housing. The ACT program exists in a broader 
community context in which mental health and substance use are highly stigmatized and 
treatments are underfunded. The system does not have enough resources to address adequately 
the needs of people with serious mental health and substance use disorders. The community 
needs more services for people who are less high need than the ACT program accepts, which 
may help prevent individuals from ever reaching the ACT program at all. There is a pressing 
need to advocate for increased health care funding in order to increase inpatient and outpatient 
services.   

In addition, social safety nets are inadequate; housing is unaffordable and disability 
compensation is insufficient, which further marginalizes vulnerable individuals, such as those 
who receive services from the ACT program. We consistently heard the core importance of 
safe and stable housing for people’s health and the pervasive negative toll of the housing crisis 
in the lives of vulnerable people. Further, therapy for mental health conditions such as Post-
Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) that often accompany serious mental illnesses can improve 
quality of life, but is expensive and not typically available to low-income communities. 
Continued advocacy and improvement in these areas will have far-reaching benefits in the 
health care and criminal justice systems. These ware complex issues that can have unintended 
consequences if not done well, and therefore there is value in having many perspectives at the 
table as solutions are discussed. 

It would be beneficial if community members could speak with one voice to advocate for 
changes on the many issues that everyone agree on. The larger systems issues cut across many 
Ministries, including mental health, health, housing, and poverty reduction. There is clear 
consensus that changes in mental health services are needed. Harnessing the wisdom and 
passion of individuals across the spectrum of care, support, advocacy, and enforcement 
services is the best way to create a coherent, coordinated plan for change. Ultimately, it will 
take all members of the community working in tandem to create a safe and supportive place 
for our most vulnerable members.  

Page 55 of 75



Strategic Plan Framework 2015-2019 

Chief Cst. Del Manak 

#1 

Priority Maintain open communication and engagement with staff 
Goals Supported 2, 3, 5 
Start Date July 2017 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Continue to informally meet with staff throughout the department
• March: Completed the departmental briefings
• April 3: full day SMT planning session
• May 8: meeting with S/Sgts and DCs
• Met with newly promoted Sergeants
• Summer beat walk with the DCs and Inspectors

#2 

Priority Maintain a high visibility profile in the community 
Goals Supported 2, 3, 5 
Start Date July 2017 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Attended 50 community events between January - April (refer to Chief’s Update in the Public Board agenda package)

#3 

Priority Ensure there is a regular evaluation of activities and work processes to identify efficiencies 
Goals Supported  1, 3, 4, 5 
Start Date July 2017 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Areas that require immediate attention are being prioritized due to lack of approval of the 2019 budget
• Working with DC Watson on implementing HR Review recommendations (IT needs for HR software program)

#4 
Priority Ensure there is on-going oversight of the budget 
Goals Supported  4, 5 
Start Date July 2017 
Completion Date Ongoing 

Page 56 of 75



Page 2 of 19 

Status Update April 2019: 
• Regular consultation with the Finance Committee and Board to improve the budget process
• Ongoing discussions with SMT to transition the department in several areas to meet new budget demands
• March: review of 2018 OT expenditures by division

Deputy Chief Cst. Colin Watson – Administration 

#1 

Priority Oversee Professional Standards practices 
Goals Supported 2, 5 
Start Date Ongoing 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• PSS workload has seen an increase in 2019 to date
• Several more complex internal (and external) discipline decisions have taken additional OIC/DCC time this past quarter
• DCC Watson is preparing submissions to the Special Committee regarding the police complaints process in BC on behalf

of BCAMCP and VicPD

#2 

Priority Hours of Work Committee – Union/management committee to examine potential changes to hours of work for police employees. 
Goals Supported 1, 4, 5 
Start Date August 2017 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Formal correspondence was shared with the Union in order to move this process along

#3 

Priority Efficiency Review Project: Strategic Analyst 
Goals Supported 2 
Start Date March 2016 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Municipal councils did not approve the recent request for the data analyst position but the need remains
• This will remain on the request list moving forward

#4 

Priority Efficiency Review Project: Review of Staffing Analysis and Recommendations 
Goals Supported 4 
Start Date March 2016 
Completion Date COMPLETED 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Police Services ordered the addition of six police officer positions as a result of the Police Services review

Page 57 of 75



Page 3 of 19 
 

 

#5 

Priority Mental Health Strategy Action Plan: Build Relationships with Academia (shared with Insp. M. Brown) 
Goals Supported 2, 3, 4, 5 
Start Date July 2017 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• The ACT study continues and should be completed by the end of the spring 
• An Evidence Based Policing Committee is now established and are now working on a work complexity study focusing on 

Sex Crimes investigations 
 

#6 

Priority  Mental Health Strategy Action Plan: Biennial Review of Mental Health Strategy 
Goals Supported 2, 3, 4, 5 
Start Date July 2017 
Completion Date July 2019 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Review still scheduled for mid-2019 
 

#7 

Priority Response to Community Survey Police/Community Service Standards 
Goals Supported 1, 2, 3, 5 
Start Date December 2017 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• We attempted to secure the assistance of a Co-Op student to help work on this project; this option recently fell through 
and  other options are being considered 

 

#8 

Priority Diversity and Inclusion Committee research on best practices through a co-op student 
Goals Supported 1, 2, 3, 5 
Start Date May 2017 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Second meeting has taken place and some preliminary focus areas have been identified; the police Union is participating 
however CUPE 50 declined to participate 

• Terms of Reference and updates to the action plan are ongoing 
 

#9 

Priority Oversee HR recruiting/hiring/deployment practices 
Goals Supported 4, 5 
Start Date Ongoing 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• An RFP for external assistance related to a recruiting strategy and website have been released 

Page 58 of 75



Page 4 of 19 

• A preferred proponent is expected to be identified this month
• Recruiting for both sworn and civilian positions continues to be challenging; the recent career uncertainty created by

budget deliberations is also negatively impacting our capacity to secure good candidates

#10 

Priority  Primary Labour Relations Manager 
Goals Supported 4, 5 
Start Date Ongoing 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• A Transition Plan was established for the transitioning CUPE staff going to E-Comm; the transition is now complete
• Management has identified a preliminary list of focus areas for the next round of bargaining
• VicPD recently completed an external review of the Human Resources Division and a Steering Committee has been

established to look at the review and identifying a path forward

Deputy Chief  Jason Laidman - Operations 

#1 

Priority Community Survey Police/Community Service Standards: responsiveness / visibility 
Goals Supported 1, 2, 3, 5 
Start Date December 2017 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: (Memo submitted February 14, 2019) 

• Patrol and CSD prioritized the 800 / 900 block Pandora / Johnson – Work Plan established with health and city partners
• Members are focused on ‘call backs’, empathy, investigative resolution – ISU partially implemented focus on priority 3

and 4 calls
• VicPD is active member of the Community Action Team supporting Overdose Reduction Strategies
• Traffic – new high vis jackets and MC decal package
• Vision Zero Road Safety partnership and education on distracted driving, CCLA, Bus lanes
• ACT officers continue to engage most vulnerable and referrals to TRC and other services
• CROs working with community groups, neighbourhood associations and faith based groups on safety and education
• CSD officers balance enforcement and supporting harm reduction – multiple search warrants executed on problem

locations
• High Vis ‘Police’ patches issued for CSD members external vest carriers – expected that Patrol will follow suit

#2 
Priority Efficiency Review Project: Special Municipal Constables (SMC) 
Goals Supported 4 
Start Date March 2016 
Completion Date June 2019 

Page 59 of 75



Page 5 of 19 

Status Update April 2019: 
• We are working closer to the Abbotsford Police Department model
• SMC business case submitted to the Union Executive and is being reviewed
• Union Executive and Management will work under the Collective Agreement for potential amendments

#3 

Priority  Efficiency Review Project: File Review/Quality Control Readers 
Goals Supported 3, 4, 5 
Start Date February 2017 
Completion Date June 2019 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Investigative Services Unit (ISU) has been partially implemented
• Full implementation of ISU will see the NCO continue with file review
• Dedicated file reviewer/quality reader is unlikely due to resource constraints

#4 

Priority Strategic Ops Council 
Goals Supported 1, 2, 3, 4 
Start Date December 2017 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Ops Council Minutes have been modified to better capture the trends, assignments, and reporting back
• Esquimalt Division publishes a monthly “Special Attention Bulletin”
• New strategies will need to be employed due to our resource crisis

#5 

Priority Indigenous Engagement Strategy 
Goals Supported 2, 3, 5 
Start Date December 2018 
Completion Date July 2019 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Met with and circulated the draft strategy to key representatives; meetings continuing
• Next steps include establishing what level of engagement is needed to finish the strategy

#6 

Priority Late Night Strategy  
Goals Supported 1, 2, 3 
Start Date September 2018 
Completion Date June 2019 
Status Update April 2019: 

• COV Council requested a review of the Late Night program and possible alternatives to the police commitment
• Late Night Report / Year in Review completed and shared with COV for their use in the overall Late Night Strategy and

presentation to Council

Page 60 of 75



Page 6 of 19 

• 13 Late Night categories identified that COV and VicPD share in service delivery of a vibrant and safe late night
• New reporting template is being developed for ease of input and to have meaningful output

#7 

Priority 2020 Strategic Plan 
Goals Supported 2, 3, 5 
Start Date November 2018 
Completion Date July 2019 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Strategic Plan framework established and adopted by the Board
• Internal and external engagement sessions and survey have begun and are scheduled to be complete by the end of June

#8 

Priority Supervised Consumption Services 
Goals Supported 1, 2, 3 
Start Date February 2016 
Completion Date July 2018 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Community Workplan established in partnership with COV, Our Place, VIHA, Police – addressing systemic issues in the
800 / 900 Pandora / Johnson

• Leadership Core group has recognized that the congestion of services should be addressed
• Working together with stakeholders to resolve issues that arise

Steve Hurcombe - Controller 

#1 

Priority Develop a long-term funding strategy for capital requirements for building, vehicles and Information Technology 
Goals Supported 4 
Start Date September 2015 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Reductions to the capital transfers in the budget will result in a significant drawdown on capital reserves that is not
sustainable

• Pooling of investigative and administrative vehicles using the key tracer will commence soon
• Roll out of key tracer to operational vehicles will require one more update to the software
• Vehicles have been prioritized, with priority given to vehicles that respond or support 911 response
• A plan for IT critical and mandatory upgrades and replacements is due in June

#2 
Priority Review of building and fleet annual maintenance costs to look for possible cost reductions 
Goals Supported 4 
Start Date January 2016 
Completion Date Ongoing 

Page 61 of 75



Page 7 of 19 

Status Update April 2019: 
• Pooling of administration vehicles will commence soon, rollout for operational planned after the next key tracer update

and some additional testing
• Looking into possible pilot for telematics system through the City to monitor vehicle performance and diagnostics
• Telematics pilot will also give us the required data to determine whether lower GHG emission vehicles are cost neutral or

affordable

#3 

Priority Implement the Overtime and Special Duties modules of the InTime scheduling system to better manage and report on deployment of 
resources 

Goals Supported 4 
Start Date January 2016 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• We are currently testing integration of leave requests, shift differentials and auxiliary timesheet processing and expect to
be able to integrate this function in the fall of 2019

• Special duties module is fully implemented
• We are currently testing the implementation of call-outs for Patrol and Records and expect to be able to implement

these modules in the near future
• Technical and resource issues have forced us to delay implementation of overtime integration; this will be reviewed again

in 2020 once the other areas are successfully implemented

#4

Priority Implement a Service Desk function, incorporating some IT, quartermaster, fleet, facilities and records services, to create a one-stop 
shop for front line officers, reduce inefficiencies and time loss pursuing solutions 

Goal Supported 4 
Start Date August 2018 
Completion Date Ongoing 

Status Update April 2019: 
• Deferred indefinitely due to lack of funding

Darlene Perry – Information Management Division 

#1 

Priority Increase the use of technology to increase efficiencies and obtain more timely information to aid in investigations and workflow 
processes 

Goals Supported 4 
Start Date August 2015 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Implemented a shared drive to store and access audio recording requests from members
• Examining opportunities with another police agency to partner in the use of an electronic Police Information Check

Page 62 of 75



Page 8 of 19 

application systems 

#2 

Priority Work with the Capital Regional District to implement regular meetings with Police, Ambulance and Fire to address and implement 
strategies that relate to 9-1-1 services, while continuing to participate in discussions relating to a South Island Regional 
Communication Centre 

Goals Supported 3, 4 
Start Date September 2015 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Finalized the work for the South Island Police Dispatch Centre Working Group
• Participated in the development of the terms of reference for the CRD 911 meetings

#3 

Priority Develop and document best practices in Records Management, which includes implementing ongoing meetings with the Records 
staff within the South Island. 

Goals Supported 3, 4 
Start Date July 2015 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Hosted a regional CPIC Users Group meeting
• Revised policy and procedures relating to fingerprint/photograph destructions
• Met with the RCMP to review best practises in electronically purging records from the PRIME BC system

#4 

Priority Review the duties being performed within the Information Management Division to properly align job duties and ensure effective 
work processes are in place.         

Goals Supported 4 
Start Date July 2015 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Implemented a mail out option for Police Information Checks to improve customer service and reduce processing times
• Actively examining a change in court workflow processes to streamline the work required and to meet policy

requirements
• Changed the process for lost validation tags to reduce the work required

Mark MacIntyre – Community Engagement Division 

#1 
Priority Foster new, bold, and innovative ways to connect with the citizens of Victoria and Esquimalt. 
Goals Supported  1, 2, 3 
Start Date  2015 
Completion Date  Ongoing 

Page 63 of 75



Page 9 of 19 
 

Status Update April 2019: 
• Continued our use of video on our social media platforms 
• Video supported our efforts with Polar Plunge for Special Olympics BC, the “Wait Until You Get Home” impaired driving 

campaign and National Volunteer Week 
• We have received positive feedback on our video productions and have acquired equipment to make us more efficient 
• Due to illness, the planned “tweet along” was cancelled for March, but more are planned in the future 
• Continued the 11-point plan for renewing the Block Watch program 

 

#2 

Priority  Build enduring partnerships with media agencies by offering sustained and transparent access to VicPD people and stories. 
Goals Supported 1, 2, 3 
Start Date 2015 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Q1 of 2019 saw 268 media requests and 39 media releases 
• There was extensive media coverage on several high-profile stories and two releases on imitation and replica firearms 

 

#3 

Priority Work with all VicPD divisions to identify, plan, and facilitate community engagement activities. 
Goals Supported 1, 2, 3 
Start Date 2015 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Participated in distracted driving enforcement and education during Distracted Driving Month 
• Implemented, with the Traffic section, the “Wait Until You Get Home” impaired driving campaign  
• Supported public information efforts for the TC 10K race 
• Worked with the Crime Reduction Unit for various releases  
• Worked with the Vancouver Island Integrated Major Crime Unit for major files 
• Worked with the Investigative Services Division on complying with Provincial Missing Person Protocol on the VicPD 

website  
 

#4 

Priority Employ leading-edge social media practices to enhance public safety and our connection with the community. 
Goals Supported 1, 2, 3 
Start Date 2015 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Posted relevant information to social media about current issues to keep the public informed 
• Worked with ICBC to host the launch of Distracted Driving month  

 
 

 

Page 64 of 75



Page 10 of 19 

#5 

Priority Explore emerging technologies and the opportunities they offer to connect with more of our citizens in a meaningful, helpful, and 
sustained way 

Goals Supported 1, 2, 3, 4 
Start Date 2015 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Acquired equipment that allows us to take better videos and pictures, involving less editing time

#6 

Priority Efficiency Review Project: Implement Information Management Review Recommendations 
Goals Supported 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 
Start Date March 2017 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Established corporate project list with complete list of project demands across the organization
• We currently have 144 projects on the list as of January 2019
• Analysis of projects is complete which illustrates high demand on IT/IM
• Identified backlog of high-risk projects; these projects could have significant impact to business critical functions

(primarily related to IT infrastructure)
• Temporarily pausing the roll-out of governance until the backlog is addressed
• Business analyst performing project manager role to identify IT roadmap, project criticality, scheduling and budget for

the next 2-5 years
• Working on a transition plan for governance to communicate current state and transparency of demands to all staff
• 2020 Strategic plan framework developed by the strategic plan team; framework was presented and approved by Board

in March
• Currently working through the strategic plan engagement phase (internal and external workshops) and collecting

feedback for the remaining components of the plan (how we will execute the plan through activities)

#7 

Priority Efficiency Review Project: Information Technology Staffing Review 
Goals Supported 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 
Start Date March 2017 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• IT staffing is relatively stable and the composition of the team is well-defined and established
• IT Manager has been hired
• Hiring process to replace computer analyst continues

Page 65 of 75

file://STORAGE/Share/!AllUsers/Project%20Governance/Governance%20-%20Project%20List%20-%202018-12-07.xlsx


Page 11 of 19 

#8 

Priority Efficiency Review Project: CCTV System Upgrade 
Goals Supported 1 
Start Date Ongoing 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• New camera deployment is in progress for VicPD HQ
• All infrastructure issues since the December migration have been resolved and backend appears stable
• Large cost savings made on re-using server and storage hardware; more investment required next year once we know

the full data retention requirement
• These cost savings are offset by an increase in the IT staff hours needed to install and maintain the system

Insp. Keith Lindner  – Esquimalt Division 

#1 

Priority Enhance School Lock Down Protocols and training for members responding 
Goals Supported 2 
Start Date September 2017 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Part of a working group to streamline procedures for school lockdowns; a draft has been sent to the steering committee
for review

#2 

Priority Create additional methods of communication with our communities to ensure that accurate and timely information is distributed, 
and that community concerns are identified early on. 

Goals Supported 2 
Start Date May 2015 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Insp. Lindner is now the Administrator for the Esquimalt Division webpage and is working with the new Communications
officer for the Township to ensure timely information sharing

#3 

Priority  Enhance, expand and leverage for maximum exposure of our community visibility initiatives. 
Goals Supported  2, 4 
Start Date April 2015 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Esquimalt Division continues to be front and center for Community events
• Members from the Patrol Division are walking the beat with Insp. Lindner when time permits for greater visibility and to

introduce members to Township staff and key members of the community
• Updating the Crime Free Multi housing program for the Township

Page 66 of 75



Page 12 of 19 

• Working with the Township to resurrect the Esquimalt Together Against Graffiti Program (ETAG)

#4 

Priority Develop, Document School Resource Officers’ long term programming and collaborate with external agencies to enhance 
effectiveness   

Goals Supported 1, 2, 4 
Start Date March 2017 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Still on hold

#5 

Priority Work with community events coordinators in Victoria and Esquimalt to create efficiencies around the planning, execution and 
policing of community events in both areas 

Goals Supported 4 
Start Date October 2015 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Ops Planning is reviewing all Ops Plans, including annual events to ensure these plans have been brought up to today’s
standards

• Developing and deployment rotation for Bronze Commanders to disperse the workload and ensure each Commander
maintains his/her qualifications

#6

Priority Complete the VicPD Emergency Plan and communicate EM awareness and competence 
Goals Supported 3, 5 
Start Date January 2015 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• A joint exercise is planned for this year that highlights VicPD serving both municipalities in the event of a large scale
emergency

#7 

Priority Develop strategies for enhanced community safety at public events 
Goals Supported 1, 3, 4 
Start Date February 2015 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Ops Planning continues to review and assess all of the departments operational plans, including annual events, with the
elevated concerns around a potential threats

Page 67 of 75



Page 13 of 19 

Insp. Jamie McRae  – Human Resources Division 

#1 

Priority Develop a Stand Alone VicPD Recruiting Website 
Goals Supported 3, 4, 5 
Start Date April 2018 
Completion Date Fall 2019 
Status Update April 2019: 

• The RFP closed on May 3rd and the evaluation and selection will occur mid-May

#2 

Priority Cyber Crime Strategy and Action Plan: work on ongoing action plan items 
Goals Supported 6 
Start Date September 2018 
Completion Date December 2019 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Two members were recently certified in training which will improve our capacity to advance cybercrime investigations
• Currently no resources are available to formalize the Cyber Crime Unit

#3 

Priority Develop an Investigative Support Unit (ISU) 
Goals Supported 1, 3, 4 
Start Date April 2017 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Insp. Hamilton has been working towards building on the success of the Alternate Response Unit (ARU) by enhancing
their work

• This proposal included an increase of resources dedicated to the ARU (rebranded to the Investigative Support Unit) to
help alleviate priority 3 and 4 calls from frontline members

• HR is assisting Insp. Hamilton with resourcing ideas for this proposal

#4 

Priority Mental Health Strategy and Action Plan: work on ongoing action plan items  
Goals Supported 3, 4 , 5 
Start Date June 2018 
Completion Date December 2019 
Status Update April 2019: 

• The final Road to Mental Readiness booster and Critical Incident Response sessions were held in January with very
positive feedback from employees

• The Critical Incident Stress Management (CISM) team has been approved to have two psychologists added to the team to
attend training days (providing additional expertise) and to assist with critical incident defusing/debriefings when needed

• In addition to other wellness activities already in place the addition of a lunchtime running group has now been added
• A final two-day Trauma Informed Leadership training session will be occurring in May with additional VicPD leaders

Page 68 of 75



Page 14 of 19 

attending 
• To date 12 VicPD leaders have attended this training with positive feedback coming from those who

#5 

Priority VicPD Diversity and Inclusion Strategy and Action Plan: work on ongoing action plan items – The Strategy and Action plan is in draft 
form, but the following initiatives are ongoing. 

Goals Supported 3, 4, 5 
Start Date September 2018 
Completion Date December 2019 
Status Update April 2019: 

• The Diversity and Inclusion executive group has been working on building activities in the action plan to ensure that the
activities fit the scope of the strategy

#6 

Priority  Human Resources Division Review  
Goals Supported 4, 5 
Start Date August 2018 
Completion Date December 2019 
Status Update April 2019: 

• The HR Review has now been completed and the results have been shared with the Senior Management Team; the
consultant will provide the Board with a report in June

• The review has been well received setting out primarily medium and long term recommendations
• An executive steering committee has been formed (as recommended by the review) to determine implementation of

recommendations from the review

 Insp. Colin Brown – Executive Services Division 

#1 

Priority Mental Health Strategy Policy Review 
Goals Supported 2, 3, 5 
Start Date August 2017 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Any new policy will align with our Mental Health Strategy

#2 

Priority Renovate Communication Centre and EOC once staff have moved to E-Comm and determine what sections will be moved and 
realigned 

Goals Supported  4, 5 
Start Date  Fall 2017 
Completion Date  Summer 2020 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Costs of this renovation are being discussed in light of the current budget

Page 69 of 75



Page 15 of 19 

• Working on a time line with the City and a confirmation of the final budget for this renovation

#3 

Priority Diversity and Inclusion Annual Policy Review to ensure policies and processes reflect and respect diversity and inclusion 
Goals Supported  2, 3, 5 
Start Date  March 2018 
Completion Date  Yearly 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Language respecting diversity and inclusion will be a part of any new policy going forward

#4 

Priority New Radio System 
Goals Supported  5 
Start Date  Ongoing 
Completion Date  COMPLETE 
Status Update April 2019: 

• VicPD successfully transitioned to the new CREST radio system

#5 

Priority Create an Internal Discipline/Performance guideline for all supervisors 
Goals Supported  2, 5 
Start Date  January 2016 
Completion Date  Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• The legal update training will be rolled out in May and June 2019 and a portion of that training will focus on supervisory
considerations and risk management

#6 

Priority  Examine the implementation of hybrid vehicles for marked, detective and administrative vehicles 
Goals Supported  2, 4, 5 
Start Date  January 2016 
Completion Date  Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Preliminary discussions have taken place with the City about such a transition, but this is all subject to budget
considerations

• This will likely be put on hold unless hybrid vehicles are less expensive than our current vehicles both with respect to
initial cost and maintenance

Page 70 of 75



Page 16 of 19 

Insp. Tony Parks  – Investigative Services Division 

#1 

Priority  Analyze the feasibility of partnering with Saanich PD to form an Integrated ICE 
Goals Supported  1, 2, 3, 4 
Start Date  June 2016 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• No discussions initiated at the operational level

#2 

Priority Fentanyl focus enforcement: with the crisis of Fentanyl overdoes, Strike Force, Analysis and Intel and the Crime Reduction Unit were 
directed to Identify and investigate Victoria’s most prolific Fentanyl traffickers.   

Goals Supported  1,2, 3, 5 
Start Date  January 2017 
Completion Date  Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Strike Force and the Crime Reduction Unit continue to target fentanyl traffickers associated to Victoria and Esquimalt
• Significant seizures of fentanyl (and other drugs) as well as illegal

#4 

Priority  Expand on the training for Major Case Management 
Goals Supported  1, 4, 5 
Start Date  January 2016 
Completion Date Concluded 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Ongoing training is being developed and provided

#5 

Priority Increase the Departments capacity to investigate Arsons 
Goals Supported 1, 4, 5 
Start Date June 2018 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• In house arson investigator expert fostering relationships with Victoria and Esquimalt Fire Departments
• Enhanced training for arson investigator continued
• Front line officers to be updated through watch briefings

#6 

Priority  Develop an efficient and sustainable intelligence sharing process with our partner police agencies. 
Goals Supported  3, 4 
Start Date  Winter 2015 
Completion Date  Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Efforts continue through invites to weekly Intel meetings

Page 71 of 75



Page 17 of 19 

• Outreach from VicPD Analysis and Intelligence Section (AIS) directly to local partners has seen better results
• Request for Investigator to be returned to AIS is not possible at this time
• Exploration of a regional intelligence unit is supported by VicPD

Insp. Grant Hamilton – Patrol Division 

#1 

Priority Engage and network with community partners to develop initiatives to create more efficient frontline service. 
Goals Supported 4, 5 
Start Date January 2014 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• VIHA has changed admission process at RJH and VGH to ensure average wait times for mental health apprehensions do
not exceed two hours

• Work ongoing for the creation of the Patrol Division Investigation and Support Unit
• Since moving to E-Comm the department has experienced a 10% increase in dispatch calls; discussions ongoing with E-

Comm to address this issue
• Continue to work with Victoria City Bylaw to have them attend areas with increased calls for public disorder

#2 

Priority Consult with our Supervisors and members to further develop appropriate training requirements for the Patrol Division i.e.: Parade 
training for court preparation, safety training, and investigational techniques. 

Goals Supported 5 
Start Date September 2015 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

Parade Training involved the following: 
• Confidential informer
• Use of IDENT for evidence collection
• Meth labs
• Civil Forfeiture
• Immediate Roadside Prohibitions
• Drug recognition
• Interview tips – transcription
• Counterfeit currency

Page 72 of 75



Page 18 of 19 

#3 

Priority Identify key events within our community, and support our members to attend to increase visibility and presence with the 
communities we serve. 

Goals Supported 2, 4 
Start Date June 2015 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

Patrol attended/supported various community events: 
• Sikh temple lunch
• Ukrainian New Year
• Mosque prayers
• Polar plunge
• VSAC Open House
• Ethno-Cultural Fair
• Pink shirt day
• Khalsa Recognition Day
• Girls baseball
• Career Fair in Esquimalt
• Michael Dunahee Run
• George Jay Elementary

#4 

Priority Through technology, strive to enhance efficiencies for our frontline members. (Media gate, smart phones, tablet MDT’s) 
Goals Supported 1 
Start Date June 2015 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Patrol members are part of a committee working with PRIME to address issues with the new mobile data terminal
upgrade challenges

#5 

Priority  Properly structured and functioning Greater Victoria Crowd Management Unit – training, MOU, JMT 
Goals Supported  2, 3, 4, 5 
Start Date  Summer 2015 
Completion Date  Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Spring training completed
• Draft MOU completed

Page 73 of 75



Page 19 of 19 

Insp. Michael Brown – Community Services Division 

#1 

Priority To build a Divisional Program that encourages Community Mobilization through strong partnerships and relationship-building. 
Goals Supported 1, 2, 3, 5 
Start Date January 2015 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Established a top 10 document which articulates the Division’s goals for 2019
• Working to established a new reporting system for Late Night Great Night which will help us capture more meaningful

statistics
• Continued work on the ACT Steering Committee and the partnership with the UVIC research group and their study on

police involvement on ACT Teams
• Continuing to participate in the Leadership Table for Victoria Core Issues which is now holding quarterly community

meetings at City Hall to report out on the results of the 800-900 work-plan

#2 

Priority To engage in projects, across a broad spectrum of disciplines, in order to enhance community safety and well-being. 
Goals Supported 1, 3, 4 
Start Date January 2019 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Since the last update, CSD has engaged in the following project targeting:
o retail theft
o traffic re: scooters, bikes
o drug traffickers

#3 

Priority To increase the Division’s visibility, footprint, and influence across the city. 
Goals Supported 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 
Start Date January 2019 
Completion Date Ongoing 
Status Update April 2019: 

• Facilitated Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design (CPTED) reviews / lockdown procedures for local faith based
agencies 

• Authored harmonized Lock-Down Procedures for SD 61, 62 & 63 – submitted to District Admin for review
• Regional School Safety Lock-down sticker program & dynamic lock-down drills are underway
• Uniform CSD members are wearing new, high-vis patches for external carriers
• Mountain bikes & helmets have been outfitted with new decal package
• In the process of organizing a faith-based security symposium for Victoria & Esquimalt

Page 74 of 75



 
 

Victoria & Esquimalt Police Board 
2019 Strategic Priorities 

Updated March 2019 
 
#1. Good governance and increased transparency 
Lead: All committees 

 
Actions: 

• Identify alternate venues to host Board meetings to enhance public participation at the meetings  
• Consider hosting a police Board town hall/meet and greet 
• Consider holding bi-annual joint Board/Council meetings  
• Consider live-streaming police Board meetings 

 
#2. Community Engagement 
Lead Governance & Human Resources 

 
Actions:  

• More frequent Board member attendance at police hosted community/department events 
• Support on-going social media efforts 

   
#3. Financial Accountability    
Lead: Finance 

 
Actions:  

• Analyze cost of policing (2018) 
• Develop strategies with Senior Management Team to mitigate externally driven costs (2018) 
• Establish City Council working group on police budget 

 
#4. Framework Agreement  
Lead: Governance 

 
Actions:  

• Continue discussion with Chief Constable and VicPD about fair and equitable service delivery to 
both Victoria and Esquimalt 

 
#5. Strategic Plan 
Lead: Governance & Finance 

 
 Actions:  

• Provide feedback to VicPD survey 
• Strategy session briefing with Board and Senior Management Team to provide community 

 input into strategic plan 
• Develop communications plan for the roll-out strategy  

Page 75 of 75


	2a 190416 VEPB Public Minutes
	Chief Constable Report - May 2019
	4CRa 190507 Gov Chair Report to Board - Public
	4CRb Fin Cmt report to Board - Public
	190507 Finance Chair Report to Board - Public
	Manak tuition reimbursement

	5GFIa Reappointment for Elder
	5GFIb190423 Letter from CofD Saanich re VSAC
	5GFIc IMPACT 2019 report 06May2019
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	CONTEXT
	WHAT DID WE DO?
	Participant Recruitment
	Data Collection

	WHAT DID WE LEARN?
	Benefits
	Improving Safety
	Embeddedness
	Preventing Harm
	Authority
	Reduce System Burden

	Drawbacks
	Stigma
	Risk of Consequences
	Inflammatory Effect on Behaviour
	Re-trigger Trauma
	Not Available Enough

	Subgroups who Benefit the Most and Least from ACT Officer Involvement
	Most Benefitted
	Least Benefitted


	FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS
	1. Does police involvement on an ACT team “criminalize” mental health?
	2. Could anyone else fulfill the role of the ACT Officer?
	3. What would the impact be if the current ACT Officers were cut or eliminated?
	4. Do these findings apply to all aspects of police involvement with mental health?

	LIMITATIONS
	NEXT STEPS
	CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS
	1 Individualized Care Plans on ACT teams
	2 Recognize Different Models of Police Involvement for Different Needs
	3 Enhance the Capacity of the Police to Respond to Mental Illness
	4 Build Bridges across the Systems that Interact with the ACT Teams
	5 Advocate for Systems Change


	5GfId190521 Strategic Plan Activity Matrix Board
	2019 Board Strategic Priorities



